



## Hidden in plain sight

# Optimising the allied health professions for better, more sustainable integrated care

NZIER report to Allied Health Aotearoa New Zealand (AHANZ) 23 June 2021

## **About NZIER**

NZIER is a specialist consulting firm that uses applied economic research and analysis to provide a wide range of strategic advice.

We undertake and make freely available economic research aimed at promoting a better understanding of New Zealand's important economic challenges.

Our long-established Quarterly Survey of Business Opinion (QSBO) and Quarterly Predictions are available to members of NZIER.

We pride ourselves on our reputation for independence and delivering quality analysis in the right form and at the right time. We ensure quality through teamwork on individual projects, critical review at internal seminars, and by peer review.

NZIER was established in 1958.

## **Authorship**

This paper was prepared at NZIER by Sarah Hogan.

It was quality approved by Todd Krieble.

The assistance of Sarah Spring and Kevin Tuaño is gratefully acknowledged.

## **Key points**

## The opportunity

The Review of Health and Disability System and the health transitions process provides an opportunity to design health services that make better use of allied health professions to achieve triple/quadruple aim health objectives for efficiency, quality, equity and sustainability in health and disability services.

Allied health practitioners represent a ready-workforce able to support a shift to more effective and more pro-active prevention, person-centred care, and collaborative, interdisciplinary team-based approaches that are most appropriate for people with complex health issues including long-term conditions.

With experience working in multi-disciplinary teams and across the secondary and primary care sectors, many allied health practitioners are also uniquely experienced in supporting patient transitions between settings of care, a critical strength that can support greater coordination and continuity in patient journeys.

#### The issues

The health system is under pressure due to both supply and demand factors:

- On the supply side, sitting at the centre of current models of care, the GP workforce is ageing and demonstrating a strong preference for part time work. Meanwhile, public hospital capacity constraints and a rising tide of acute demand displacing planned care are resulting in long waits for planned care that impact on people's quality of life, productivity and outcomes.
- On the demand side, the growing burden of disease, particularly non-communicable disease including musculoskeletal conditions, demands more GP time and contributes to both increased referrals to specialists and greater acute demand in tier 2 settings. An ageing population reinforces this trend.

As a result of the supply side constraints and demand pressures, there is evidence of unmet need growing. One solution identified to address unmet need by improving efficiency and patient-centredness has been to shift services from hospital settings into tier 1 settings. But with GPs as the primary providers of these services, this shift threatens to increase access barriers to primary care due to existing GP supply constraints. It also poses a threat to workforce sustainability and patient experience and safety as GP time pressures become acute and workloads become unsustainable.

Only by enabling other practitioners to share some of the growing burden of work currently being delivered by GPs, and contributing to reduced demand through more effective prevention, will the shift from tier 2 to tier 1 settings be able to occur without significant efficiency-equity trade-offs.

At the same time, increasing patient expectations of more person-centred care along with increasing recognition of the need for models of care based on the patient-centred medical home (PCMH) model point clearly in the direction of engaging allied health practitioners as integral members of publicly-funded integrated tier 1 services.

## **Critical barriers**

Allied Health professionals' eagerness to work collectively is not currently matched by enabling system design features or primary care professional culture.

Most GP practices are small, GP-owned, with minimal nursing and administrative support paid on salary. Taking on an allied health professional within a primary care team represents a cost to the business that can't be recouped as no specific funding exists for this and co-payments, particularly in areas where significant allied health support is most needed, already present barriers to accessing care for many patients. Secondary care multidisciplinary team meetings (MDTs) are recognised through specific purchase units (i.e. such as MDT meetings for cancer care), but the same recognition is not there for similar approaches in primary care or other instances where allied health input is needed.

While referrals to secondary care are relatively high in volume and supported by health pathways, referrals to allied health are minimal. Many GPs lack the ability to draw on allied health skillsets or lack familiarity with specific practitioners in their communities, resulting in reluctance to trust patient care to allied health. Lack of shared patient records and the cost of allied health care being prohibitive for low-income patients further contribute to GP reluctance to refer.

Current services have a long way to go to provide some version of the Patient Centred Medical Home (PCMH) model, a population needs-based interdisciplinary team model of care. The PCMH focusses on prevention and management of long-term conditions and mobilises a tailored team of medical and non-medical (including allied health) practitioners to plan, coordinate and provide services with the patient actively involved in team decisionmaking. The PCMH requires specific funding to reflect the added costs of team-based, coordinated care.

## Changes are needed for sustainability

The objective of a more person-centred, integrated health and disability system capable of safely, efficiently, equitably and sustainably delivering the most effective response to population need is clear. To address the critical barriers and enable an optimal use of the allied health workforce to support this shift, we recommend the following changes to system, funding, culture and information:

#### System

- Adopt patient-centred medical homes (PCMH) as the ideal model of care for collaborative, interdisciplinary teams including allied health practitioners, to deliver maximum equity, quality and value particularly for patients with complex biopsychosocial factors and multimorbidity.
- Encourage more community governed models of tier 1 care delivery, with all staff paid on salary, to break down professional hierarchy.
- Improve referral flows with triage processes that could include specifically trained triage providers or extended scope first contact practitioners.

#### Funding

 Align payment to service models, including financial incentives for performance on quality and efficiency targets, and payments to cover the additional overhead and

labour costs associated with non-traditional staffing and coordination of collaborative care activities.

 Require tier 1 teams to demonstrate capacity and activity of collaborative interprofessional teams based on criteria that allow flexibility of team composition and structure to respond to local need in order to access specific payments.

## Culture

- Shift culture in health provider organisations from the top as well by bringing professional groups together to agree on a national competency framework for collaborative practice and identify changes to education programmes to support the development of interprofessional collaboration competencies in the workforce.
- Improve referrals across networks of providers with allied health ambassadors working in practice teams as well as across practice teams to improve trust and communication.
- Identify and enable extended scope of practice for allied health practitioners, supported by nationally defined scopes of practice.
- Review the criteria for regulation under the HPCA Act to ensure that these are consistent and supportive of wider health and disability system objectives, not only to reduce patient risk, but improve outcomes, recognising the role that regulation plays in professional trust, professional hierarchy, and the development of new models of care.

#### Information

- Empower clinicians, allied health professionals and patients with better information and information technology to increase sharing, communication, trust, and choice.
- Reinstate New Zealand's reporting of OECD health accounts at a detailed level and develop consistent and complementary indicators to monitor the impacts of health and disability system investments.

The allied health workforce represents the health and disability system's greatest opportunity for transformational change. Failure to fully integrate the allied health workforce into tier 1 services and across tier 1 and 2 transitions will significantly constrain the system's ability to deliver the new models of care that promise quality, equity, efficiency and sustainability.

## Contents

1	Background	1				
2	Our approach					
3	<ul> <li>Allied Health and AHANZ</li> <li>3.1 What is allied health</li> <li>3.2 Why does regulation matter?</li> <li>3.3 How does allied health relate to primary care?</li> <li>3.4 Why is the allied health relationship with primary care so important?</li> </ul>	3 5 6				
4	<ul> <li>Drivers of change</li></ul>	7 				
5	<ul> <li>High level objectives for a fit-for-purpose health system</li></ul>	19 21 26				
6	<ul> <li>Tier 1 design elements for maximising allied health impact</li></ul>	30 32 34 36 38 41 42 45				
7	Recommendations					
8	References	48				

## Figures

Figure 1 Percent of New Zealand population in older age groups	8
Figure 2 Expenditure increases for older people outstrip health funding increases and the CPI	9
Figure 3 DALYs lost annually by cause	10
Figure 4 Age-standardised DALYs rate per 100,000 and total DALYs, 1990-2017	11
Figure 5 Burden of disease attributable to 15 leading risk factors in 2010, expressed as a	
percentage of New Zealand DALYs	12
Figure 6 Ambulatory sensitive hospitalisation rate, by ethnicity	13
Figure 7 Patient flows across tier 1 and tier 2 services	13

vi 4

Figure 8 Measures of unmet need	14
Figure 9 Prevalence of chronic pain by economic living standard in New Zealand	15
Figure 10 Increasing pressure on GPs from adjustments to patient flows	17
Figure 11 Number of long-term health conditions by GP attendance frequency (2012–13)	17
Figure 12 Triple Aim Objectives and opportunities for Allied Health contribution	19
Figure 13 Unmet need for GP and primary care, by ethnicity	20
Figure 14 Prevalence of risk factors by ethnicity	21
Figure 15 The biopsychosocial model of health	24
Figure 16 The 12 domains of current wellbeing	25
Figure 17 Practice ownership in New Zealand	32
Figure 18 Comparison of community and professional models	33
Figure 19 Primary care provider income breakdown	35
Figure 20 Traditional GP-controlled access	37
Figure 21 Triage system access to practitioners – osteoarthritis example	37
Figure 22 Routes to workforce change for an improved health system	39
Figure 23 Elements of professional socialisation	42
Figure 24 Critical steps to reshape the workforce	44

## **Tables**

Table 1 Non-hospital Medicare Benefits expenditure, by GP attendance, 2012–13	18
Table 2 Staffing requirements for a New Zealand PCMH model	31
Table 3 Characteristics of New Zealand GP practices by ownership type	34

vii 4

## 1 Background

New Zealand's health and disability system is currently heavily organised to treat illness and disease, typically with each condition treated separately, often by different specialist practitioners, and a focus on acute care. This episodic and fragmented approach that characterises the biomedical model of health care is appropriate in many instances where people experience specific illness of short duration with little to no interactions across their psychosocial conditions. But the ineffectiveness of this approach for the increasing number of patients with complex health, disability and psychosocial issues is now increasingly recognised.

Following the release of the report of the Health and Disability System Review 2020, the government has now announced major changes to the health and disability system. These changes, and the additional finer detail still to be determined, present an opportunity to align workforce use to the new models and settings of care to enable more sustainable resource consumption with a focus on maintaining health and wellbeing (as opposed to treating illness) and supporting the population's growing desire for choice, control, and independence. The role of allied health professionals in this shift is critical.

Allied Health Aotearoa New Zealand (AHANZ) commissioned NZIER to examine the evidence and identify the critical changes that are key to designing a system with fully integrated allied health services aligned with health system objectives.

## 2 Our approach

In this report, we consider:

- the drivers of change, including demand factors and supply factors, and the potential role of allied health in addressing these to restore much-needed balance to the health and disability system
- the triple aim objectives of equity, effectiveness and efficiency and the often added fourth objective of sustainability
- multiple dimensions of efficiency that require different types of reconfiguration
- recognised incentives and behaviours in ownership and funding models
- sound investment principles for system reconfiguration and human capital
- international evidence of what works.

Health system terminology varies across users and contexts. Throughout the report we make use of the following terms with these meanings:

• Interprofessional practice: A catch all term meaning a 'partnership between a team of health providers and a client in a participatory collaborative and coordinated approach to shared decision making around health and social issues' (CIHC, 2010).

We use the term generally to represent the spectrum of care models from multidisciplinary to transdisciplinary within a system that has mechanisms in place to activate the appropriate team to meet patient needs and preferences, from traditional GP-nurse teams and variations of this such as GP-physiotherapist teams to chronic disease models and other team-based care involving combinations of health and other professionals (e.g. GP, counsellor, social worker, remedial massage therapist, dietitian, etc.).

Interprofessional practice can be coordinated within a primary care practice, a Health Care Home or similar, across a tier 1 network, or within a vertically integrated alliance of tier 1 and tier 2 providers.

Interprofessional practice is a professional behaviour that identifies and engages optimal use of each practitioner's skillset for each patient to provide comprehensive, coordinated, person and whānau-centred care. Interprofessional practice is flexible, adjusting the level of collaboration and the number of practitioners according to the complexity of needs and circumstances of the person receiving care. It requires effective communication, a clear understanding of roles and team dynamics, and effective leadership and conflict resolution skills. Interprofessional practice works best when practitioners learn from each other and improve their own practice with this acquired knowledge base, creating overlaps in skillsets that reduce fragmentation in professional services.

- General practice: Health and disability services provided by a team that includes a GP with the GP as lead care provider.
- Tier 1 services: "Tier 1 encompasses a broad range of services and other activities that take place in homes and communities, in marae and in schools, delivering most of the health services that most people need, most of the time. Tier 1 includes, but is not limited to self-care, mental health services, general practice, maternity services, Well Child / Tamariki Ora, outreach services, oral health, community pharmacy services, health coaching, medicines optimisation, district nursing, aged residential care, hauora Māori services, community paramedic services, school-based services, home-based care and support, rehabilitation and palliative care. It also includes laboratory and radiology services and other allied health care that takes place outside of hospital, such as podiatry, physiotherapy and dietetics, etc. Most kaupapa Māori services are in Tier 1." (Health and Disability System Review 2020)
- **Tier 2 services:** Health and disability services provided in a hospital setting or by specialists (including outpatient, inpatient, non-community mental health, and hospital-based diagnostics).
- Integrated care: Integrated health services that are managed and delivered in a way
  that ensures people receive a continuum of service and care from health promotion,
  disease prevention, diagnosis, treatment, disease-management, rehabilitation and
  palliative care services. Services are coordinated vertically (across tier 1 and tier 2
  providers) and horizontally (between different tier 1 providers or between different
  tier 2 providers) according to their needs and throughout the life course.
- Person-centred care: Health and disability services that take a holistic approach to wellness incorporating a person's preferences, values and beliefs (Santana et al, 2018), concepts of whānau (family) and whānaungātanga or connectedness (Wepa, 2015).
   Person-centred care provides patients with significantly more control and choice than traditional models of care.

<u>)</u>

Outcomes: Throughout the report, we make reference to impacts on outcomes. By
outcomes, we mean not only the traditional clinically-defined measures of physical
health, but also mental health as well as broader and more holistic outcomes such as
wellbeing or wellness. In this context, health outcomes are consistent with the World
Health Organization definition of health: "a state of complete physical, mental and
social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity" (World Health
Organization,

## 3 Allied Health and AHANZ

## 3.1 What is allied health

The allied health workforce includes a wide range of health professionals. Definitions vary across the literature and across countries, but the term is generally understood to refer to health professionals outside of the medical, nursing and midwifery, kaiawhina professions. The Ministry of Health also excludes dental professionals (Ministry of Health, n.d.), although dental and oral health therapists and dental hygienists are members of Allied Health Aotearoa New Zealand (AHANZ).

At over 30,000 members and representing New Zealand's second largest clinical workforce in District Health Boards (AHANZ website), allied health professionals work with people across a wide range of health care, community, home and residential settings.

The core skills of allied health professionals represent a major resource for the health system and are aligned with the objectives of the Health and Disability System Review to recommend how the system can be designed to:

- achieve better health and wellbeing outcomes for all
- ensure improvements in health outcomes of Māori
- ensure improvements in health outcomes of other population groups
- reduce barriers to access to health and disability services to achieve equitable outcomes for all parts of the population
- improve the quality, effectiveness, and efficiency of the health and disability system, including institutional, funding, and governance arrangements.

(Health and Disability System Review, 2019)

Ten allied health professions are regulated by the Health Practitioners Competence Assurance (HPCA) Act 2003:

- Chiropractic
- Dietetics
- Occupational therapy
- Optometry and optical dispensing
- Oral health
- Osteopathy

- Physiotherapy
- Podiatry
- Psychology
- Psychotherapy.

According to the Ministry of Health "The Act incorporates the basic principles of ongoing competence and the separation of the registration process from the disciplinary process. the HPCA Act also continues provisions for the declaration of protected quality assurance activities that were previously contained in the Medical Practitioners Act 1995."

The key provisions of the Act are:

- only health practitioners who are registered under the Act are able to use the titles protected by the Act or claim to be practising a profession regulated by the Act
- registered health practitioners are not permitted to practise outside their scopes of practice
- regulatory authorities are required to certify that a practitioner is competent to practise in their scope of practice when they issue an annual practising certificate
- certain activities can only be performed by registered health practitioners as specified in the Act.

Social Workers are regulated by the Social Workers Registration Act 2003, with registration becoming mandatory from 27 February 2021.

In total, there are over 15,000 allied health professionals registered under the Act.

The following AHANZ members are self-regulated:

- Acupuncture NZ
- Australian, New Zealand and Asian Creative Arts Therapies Association
- Clinical Exercise Physiology NZ
- Hospital Play Specialists Association Aotearoa NZ
- Massage NZ
- Music Therapy NZ
- Nutrition Society of NZ
- NZ and Australia Society of Renal Dialysis Practice Inc
- NZ Anaesthetic Technicians' Society
- NZ Association of Counsellors
- NZ Audiological Society
- NZ Institute of Medical Radiation Technology
- NZ Orthotics and Prosthetics Association
- NZ Register of Exercise Professionals
- NZ Orthoptic Society

- NZ Speech-Language Therapists' Association
- NZ Society of Diversional and Recreational Therapists
- Sport and Exercise Science NZ.

In addition to self-regulation by their own professional bodies. AHANZ membership requires that self-regulated professions:

- Have a relevant tertiary (or equivalent) qualification as defined in s12 (2) (a-e) of the HPCA Act 2003
- Have a recognised system for monitoring ongoing competence
- Abide by professional standards of practice
- Abide by a professional code of ethics
- Have direct contact with service users in fulfilling their role
- Abide by the Allied Health Aotearoa New Zealand Constitution
- Have a robust public complaints process.

AHANZ membership is voluntary. This means health practitioners without regulation can choose not to become members, which means they are not required to meet the association's professional standards. But in some circumstances, a third-party funding body, such as ACC, will require that health practitioners must be members of their professional association.

AHANZ estimates there are approximately 15,000 self-regulated health professionals.

## 3.2 Why does regulation matter?

One role of government in the health and disability system is described in economics as that of a "principal" in a trust-based "principal-agent" relationship, which is needed due to information asymmetry and uncertainty of outcomes which result in patients effectively delegating decision-making authority to doctors ("agents") and trusting that doctors will act in the patient's best interests. Economist Kenneth Arrow argued (Arrow, 1963) that trust is critical in this relationship, where doctors may experience some tension between their ethical principles with regards to the patient and their business objectives, and that governments play an important role in designing mechanisms to ensure that these "agents" do not abuse their positions of trust.

The HCPA Act provides for the protection of the public interest through ensuring that the public can find out from a trusted source what services a health practitioner is competent and entitled to provide, in order to know what services can be expected and that the practitioner has the competence to ensure quality and safety of care.

It stands to reason that a higher level of trust may be associated with regulation under the HPCA Act and some allied health professional groups have applied to become regulated under the Act to be able to offer patients better assurance of quality and safety. However, government has not always supported this, with the main reason for turning down such requests being the lack of risk posed to patients.

A focus on patient risk is appropriate for a health system in which patients have one-to-one interactions with practitioners. But a system that wants to support multi-disciplinary and

interprofessional teams needs to recognise that patients are not the only party affected by information gaps. Service commissioners, provider organisations, and other health professionals also lack information about the professional scopes and competence of the range of allied health practitioners. The resulting lack of professional trust may contribute to a perception of legal and reputational risks associated with greater integration of allied health services where the HCPA Act does not provide assurances.

A review of the criteria for regulation under the HPCA Act may be due to ensure criteria align with health and disability system objectives, not only to ensure safety but to improve access and outcomes. The government will want to weigh up the benefits of increased coverage of the HPCA Act against the potential for rent-seeking behaviour.

## 3.3 How does allied health relate to primary care?

Primary care is broadly defined as the services provided under the service schedules in the PHO Services Agreement. These include but are not limited to services to maintain health, restore health, and coordinate care.

Because general practitioners (GPs) are a first point of contact for a patient, and account for about 5.4 percent of Vote: Health (General Practice NZ 2020), general practitioners serve as source of referrals for allied health professionals in the current system.

General practice is the largest single vocational scope with 3,748 registered general practitioners in 2020 up from 2,446 in 2005. This is a 53 percent increase at a time the New Zealand population increased by 23 percent. This increase is somewhat offset by workloads trends. General practice workloads average 35.8 hours per week against an all-doctors average of 44.5 hours per week. General practice average hours worked per week has dropped from 42.2 hours in 2000 to 35.6 hours in 2019 (MCNZ, 2020).

The current model of primary care, based on profit-maximising unidisciplinary GP practices, typically offering 15-minute consultations does not support person-centred care for people with multiple long-term conditions, or even single conditions with complex biopsychosocial contributing factors.

Currently, 71 percent of GPs work in practices owned by one or more GPs, with 36 percent of GPs being owners or ownership partners. However, annual data and cohort data suggest a trend in the direction of less GP ownership, contract employment and part time, (RNZCGP, 2019), which may in fact represent both an opportunity and a necessity to better integrate general practice with other tier 1 services for a shift to more person-centred care.

## 3.4 Why is the allied health relationship with primary care so important?

As coordinators of care, and most people's first point of contact, apart from Accident Compensation Corporation (ACC) cases, general practitioners (GPs) in the current system are the gatekeepers to both allied health and specialist care. Some studies (see for example, Dennis et al. (2018)), however, suggest GPs are very unlikely to refer patients to allied health practitioners for new problems even when the problem is within the scope of the allied health practitioner.

Research (see for example, Supper et al. (2015)) on referral behaviour by GPs has identified that barriers to referrals and interprofessional practice include:

- perceived hierarchy (this is reinforced in New Zealand by the common model of GP practice ownership)
- lack of awareness and recognition of the roles of other health professionals, including allied health practitioners
- lack of trust and integration of professionals into the same team.

A RAND Corporation research report (Herman and Coulter, 2015) identifies three information barriers to integrated care including allied health practitioners:

- GPs often do not know when and to whom patients should be referred, how to identify a good practitioner, or what services allied health practitioners offer.
- Some allied health practitioners often do not know how to navigate the wider health system due to having worked and being trained to work alongside it rather than as an integrated part of it.
- Patients, who may in some circumstances be involved in their own health care decisions, may have little experience of allied health and receive limited advice about allied health services, resulting in inadequate knowledge to make a good decision regarding the role of allied health in their health and wellness plans.

A survey of GPs (Turner-Benny, McCann, and Benny 2014) revealed that there was confusion as to what constituted allied health and more than half of GPs surveyed were not aware of any allied health professions being regulated under the HPCA Act (2003).

But the current GP-gatekeeper model is not the only option. In a more patient-oriented and 'networked' health system where patients can go directly to allied health professionals, referrals could go in many directions, including from allied health practitioners to GPs. GPs would remain a key source of referrals because of their medical knowledge and role as care coordinators, but there are options to safely reduce GP control over access to allied health.

## 4 Drivers of change

The Drivers of change for tier 1 services are:

- Health disparities affecting Māori
- An ageing population
- Long term conditions driving the burden of disease
- Unsustainable pressure on GPs under current models of care and funding arrangements
- Unmet need
- Changing public expectations.

## 4.1 Health disparities for Māori need to be addressed

The Health and Disability System Review identified four major groups of concern for improving equity:

- Māori
- Pacific peoples
- People with disabilities
- Rural New Zealanders.

The WAI 2575 report of the Waitangi Tribunal argued that the Crown has failed to ensure equitable health outcomes for Māori, putting the Crown in breach of te Tiriti o Waitangi. The report also described Māori primary health organisations as having been *"underfunded from the outset"* due to funding arrangements that disadvantage primary health organisations that serve high-needs (often Māori) communities.

Improving equity of access and equity of outcomes should be a fundamental concern for the redesign of the health system.

## 4.2 An older population means more multi-morbidity and frailty

The Health and Disability System Review 2020 recognised the increasing pressures on the health and disability system owing to population ageing. In particular, it noted:

- a significant increase in the 'working age dependency ratio', from 55 dependents to 100 people of working age in 2018, to 65 dependents to 100 people of working age in 2038.
- increasing demand for health and disability services as use and complexity increases with age, and increasing prevalence of impairments and comorbidities.
- changes in the distribution of where people live and work with rural areas growing faster than urban areas (Health and Disability System Review 2020).



## Figure 1 Percent of New Zealand population in older age groups

Along with population ageing, expenditure related to the health and disability needs of an older population increase. Expenditure growth on home support and residential care is outstripping DHB funding increases and the consumer price index (CPI). Interventions to support people to live well for a greater proportion of their lives (compression of morbidity) is essential to health system sustainability.



Source: Ministry of Health, 2018

## Figure 2 Expenditure increases for older people outstrip health funding increases and the CPI



Source: Ministry of Health, 2018

## 4.3 Long term conditions drive the burden of disease

Increasing multi-morbidity, particularly involving long-term conditions is a reality for New Zealand that requires a focus across the spectrum of care. Most long-term conditions are preventable or could be managed with little need for specialist care and without many of the severe complications and early deaths that often transpire.

According to the Ministry of Health, 82 percent of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) lost in New Zealand is now caused by non-communicable diseases, 14 percent is due to injuries (Ministry of Health 2020b).

## Figure 3 DALYs lost annually by cause



Source: Ministry of Health, 2020

The shift to long term conditions as the major burden of disease is felt in primary care where long term conditions like arthritis and osteoarthritis, heart and circulatory conditions, asthma, long term injuries, mental health conditions, diabetes, and cancer drive people to seek frequent visits to primary care providers (National Health Performance Authority 2015).

The medical model of care for these patients often results in unnecessary hospitalisation, as noted by the National Health Committee in its report on low back pain (LBP). The NHC concluded that "Patients with chronic LBP receive lower levels of manual therapies and allied care services when their care is funded through Vote: Health than through ACC. Specialised pain services appear to be generally underprovided and see patients late in their clinical course. Additionally, patients who have had surgery for LBP in the public health care system have low levels of access to specialised pain and physiotherapy services before and after their surgery." (National Health Committee 2015).<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The National Health Committee was disestablished in 2016, weakening New Zealand's capability for identifying safe, effective and efficient new approaches to patient care.



Despite good progress being made to lower DALY rates per 100,000 population, the burden of disease in the New Zealand has been increasing as the population ages with higher rates of chronic conditions and disability. This burden of disease wave is upon us and trending upwards bring increasing costs with it. For example, the cost of type 2 diabetes in New Zealand increased from \$247 million in 2001 to \$2.1 billion in 2021, and is expected to climb to \$3.5 billion over the next 20 years (PWC 2008 and PWC 2021).





Source: Ministry of Health

Multimorbidity is common in New Zealand, with one in four New Zealanders living with multiple long-term conditions. People with multimorbidity are also heavy health system users and, consequently, heavy consumers of health system resources (Stanley et al. 2018).

Much of this is due to population ageing and represents a challenge in terms of how health services can support people through healthy ageing. But lifestyles also play an important role and increased prevalence of many long-term conditions reflects a lack of attention to prevention in light of modern lifestyles. Dietary risks are the single largest contributing risk factor to DALY loss in New Zealand, followed by high BMI, smoking, high blood pressure and physical inactivity (Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2019. See figure below).



## Figure 5 Burden of disease attributable to 15 leading risk factors in 2010, expressed as a percentage of New Zealand DALYs

Source: Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2019.

2

5 6

% DALYs attributable to risk factors

-1 0

## 4.4 Unacceptable volume of acute demand

Population ageing, rising prevalence of long-term conditions and multi-morbidity, limited primary prevention, ineffective management of long-term conditions, and primary care cost barriers are all contributing to high volumes of acute demand. This is seen in emergency departments throughout New Zealand, where ambulatory sensitive conditions continue to grow in volume, often leading to acute admission to inpatient care.

8 9

10 11 12



HIV/AIDS & tuberculosis



## Figure 6 Ambulatory sensitive hospitalisation rate, by ethnicity

Source: NZIER, Ministry of Health (2020a)

The high volume of demand, including acute demand flows to GPs as first point of contact and to after-hours and emergency departments, particularly for people who face access barriers to GP care (co-payments, open hours, etc) displaces other types of care including preventive care in GP practices and elective surgeries in hospitals.

## Figure 7 Patient flows across tier 1 and tier 2 services



Source: NZIER

## 4.5 Unmet need is significant

Evidence of unmet need in New Zealand's primary care sector is available from a variety of sources using various measures:

- Nearly 30 percent of adults report experiencing one or more types of unmet need for primary care (New Zealand Health Survey 2016/17) higher for Māori, Pacific and people living in highly deprived areas, and specific age groups.
- In the 2019 Health Quality and Safety Commission New Zealand (HQSC) national patient experience survey, 15 percent of respondents reported that they had at some time wanted health care from a GP or nurse and had not been able to access it (see figure below). This was higher for people aged 25-44 (23 percent) and even higher for people with a long-term condition (31 percent).
- 14 percent overall report that the unmet need is due to cost barriers, rising to 20 percent in the most deprived areas (New Zealand Health Survey 2016/17). Based on the 2018 and 2019 HQSC patient experience survey, cost is a barrier for 17 to 20 percent of the population (35 percent of 15–44-year-olds), with appointment costs and the cost of taking time off work being the most important cost elements.

## Figure 8 Measures of unmet need



Percentage of adults reporting inability to get a GP appointment within 24 hours



Source: NZIER based on NZHS data

Source: NZIER based on NZHS data

- An international survey (Commonwealth Fund survey, 2016) suggests that the overall prevalence of cost barriers is around 18 percent in New Zealand, worse only in Switzerland (22 percent) and the United States (33 percent). In comparison, only seven percent of UK respondents experience cost as a barrier to care.
- Chronic pain, another long-term condition associated with ageing, affects more than one in six New Zealanders, with prevalence increasing to nearly 30 percent in older age groups and higher rates amongst those in lower socioeconomic groups (including individual and area level measures). Over a third of sufferers of chronic pain do not get any medical or non-medical treatment (Dominick, Blyth, and Nicholas 2011). Chronic pain is a complex biopsychosocial condition that often requires a team of professionals from multiple disciplines to address.
- A 2019 article in the New Zealand Medical Journal noted that one in five New Zealanders experience hearing loss and that the most common reason for people being unable to access hearing-related services and equipment is that they cannot

.4

afford it. It also notes that the overwhelming majority of children and young people with hearing loss are from high deprivation areas. These issues are estimated to contribute to a \$4 billion cost burden of hearing loss, including nearly \$1 billion in financial costs and \$3 billion is lost quality of life.



## Figure 9 Prevalence of chronic pain by economic living standard in New Zealand

Economic Living Standard Index category - individual level material deprivation

Source: Dominick, Blythe and Nicholas, 2011

Unmet need is both a cause and a consequence of system pressure. Unmet need in primary care leads to increased demand for specialist and hospital services and acute care. As the system focusses on meeting these needs for specialist and hospital care, funding for screening, prevention and management struggles to keep up. It is a vicious cycle that requires a significant force to reverse.

It is important to note that a visit to a GP can also represent a form of unmet need. Given that most people can only access allied health services privately, when people from disadvantaged households need the kind of services offered by allied health practitioners, they are most likely to seek them from a GP.

GPs have called on the government to shift the system to include more one-stop shops of more personalised health services in the community to address rising prevalence of long-term conditions, particularly in Māori and Pacific communities where multiple comorbidities and earlier onset of long term conditions are increasing (Daly 2020).

## 4.6 Public expectations are changing

Patient expectations have increased over time, with greater expectations of treatment and access to secondary care and medicines.

People want choice and control in tier 1 services:

• 18 percent of respondents to the HQSC patient experience survey 2019 said they were not as involved in decisions about their care and treatment as they wanted to be, increasing to 28 percent for Māori aged 15-44.



- 20 percent think their GP or nurse does not spend enough time with them (HQSC patient experience survey 2019)
- Concerns about continuity and coordination, communication about medication, particular needs of people with mental health conditions (HQSC)

## 4.7 The pressure on GPs is unsustainable and increasing

The GP workforce is the cornerstone of the primary care system in New Zealand. GPs are the first point of contact and manage patients from the worried well, to patients with multiple comorbidities and complex psychosocial risks.

General practice is the largest single vocational scope with 3,748 registered general practitioners in 2020 up from 2,446 in 2005. This is a 53 percent increase at a time the New Zealand population increased by 23 percent. This increase is somewhat offset by workloads trends. General practice workloads average 35.8 hours per week against an all-doctors average of 44.5 hours per week. General practice average hours worked per week has dropped from 42.2hrs in 2000 to 35.6 in 2019 (MCNZ, 2020).

Demand pressures force the health system to find ways to think about how to deal with the constrained supply of GPs as more of the workforce head into retirement. One survey found that 47 percent of New Zealand's GPs indicated that they are planning to retire within the next ten years (Chisholm, 2019).

The College of General Practitioner's 2016 workforce survey revealed that the vast majority of GPs work in a GP-owned practice, with nearly 40 percent being owners or part-owners. But this model is under threat as the promise of ownership is losing its appeal for younger GPs who recognise that medical training may not provide the business ownership skills they would need (RNZCGP 2016).

Increasingly, due to the growing pressure of acute demand on hospitals, GPs are being asked to manage more and more complex patients and provide more complex care and procedures within vertically integrated care settings. These changes will increase flows into primary care and reduce the current main flow out (to outpatient and specialist services).

#### Inpatient care High volume High High volume volume <u>A</u> Outpatient and Acute and Arranged care specialist services High volume High Rehab Rejected volume only referrals

Low volume

## Figure 10 Increasing pressure on GPs from adjustments to patient flows

#### Source: NZIER

Primary care

High

volume

Long-term conditions now make up 80 percent of primary care presentations (Askerud et al. 2020). An Australian study of frequent GP attenders found that 89 percent of people who visited the GP 20 or more times per year had at least one long-term health condition, 61 percent had at least two and 36 percent had at least three. Additionally, 84 percent of people who visited the GP 12 to 19 times per year had at least one long-term health condition, 55 percent had at least two and 29 percent had at least three long-term health conditions (see figure below) (National Health Performance Authority 2015).

ow volume

Allied health

(Private

and ACC)



## Figure 11 Number of long-term health conditions by GP attendance frequency (2012–13)

Source: National Health Performance Authority, 2015

This pattern of use is not only unsustainable from a GP workload perspective, it is also unsustainable from a health cost perspective: The same Australian study found that the average amount of federal expenditure on non-hospital Medicare services for very high GP attenders (20+ visits) was \$3,202 per person and for frequent GP attenders (12–19 visits) it was \$1,850. Those amounts represent six and three times the per-person expenditure for an occasional GP attender (4–5 visits) 12 and 7 times the expenditure for a low GP attender (1–3 visits). Finding cost-effective ways of reducing demand with better prevention and management of long term conditions, and less costly options for primary care visits is imperative.

Visits to a GP	Number of Australians	Proportion of the population (%)	Total non-hospital Medicare expenditure† (\$)	Share of non-hospital Medicare expenditure <sup>†</sup> (%)	Per person non-hospita Medicare expenditure <sup>†</sup> (\$)
Very high (20+ visits)	882,892	3.8	2.8 billion	17.7	3,202
Frequent (12–19)	2,010,630	8.7	3.7 billion	23.3	1,850
Above average (6–11)	5,268,252	22.8	5.2 billion	32.8	993
Occasional (4–5)	3,650,221	15.8	2.0 billion	12.6	551
Low (1–3)	7,774,432	33.6	2.0 billion	12.5	257
Zero	3,548,854	15.3	0.2 billion	1.0	-
All Australians	23,135,281	100.0	16.0 billion	100.0	690 <sup>§</sup>

## Table 1 Non-hospital Medicare Benefits expenditure, by GP attendance, 2012–13AUD

Source: National Health Performance Authority, 2015

The need to address these problems through interprofessional practice has been recognised by funders whose expectations of primary care in this regard have increased. But collaborative care models require GPs to engage with a range of providers, and GPs lack the support they need to embed this way of working. While the benefits may outweigh the costs, there nonetheless are transaction costs for general practitioners to work differently. Primary mental health services, aged care facilities, referrals back from secondary care, for example, all put pressure on general practitioners as the central advocate and coordinator of care.

## 5 High level objectives for a fit-for-purpose health system

One of the most widely used sets of objectives for a fit for purpose public health system is the Triple Aim.

The Triple Aim, originally conceived as a guiding policy for health care in the United States, and later adopted by the HQSC, identifies the three fundamental aims of a publicly-funded health system:

- improved quality, safety and the patient's experience of care
- improved health and equity for all populations
- best value for public health system resources

Allied health services align well with the triple aim objectives and provide opportunities for improvement across all three dimensions.



## Figure 12 Triple Aim Objectives and opportunities for Allied Health contribution

Source: NZIER, HQSC

## 5.1 Improved health and equity for all populations

The World Health Organization defines equity as the absence of avoidable or remediable differences between groups of people (Ministry of Health, 2021). Ensuring equity in health implies addressing two important dimensions of equity:

- differences in health outcomes
- differences in access to the resources that help people achieve health outcomes (Ministry of Health, 2021)

Equity is a critically important dimension of a fair and just society and is at the heart of Te Tiriti o Waitangi, but it is also intrinsically linked to other dimensions of the triple aim framework, for example:

- negative patient experiences of care can result in less engagement with services, which can lead to poorer health outcomes
- poorer health outcomes resulting from differences in access to critical resources (e.g. healthy housing and diet, preventive care) can lead to more use of some services, higher costs and worse outcomes.

## 5.1.1 Allied health and the equity opportunity

Three important ways in which allied health professionals can improve equity are:

- Increased access to tier 1 services for Māori and Pacific people
- Increased access to tier 2 services for Māori and Pacific people

Figure 13 Unmet need for GP and primary care, by ethnicity

Improved outcomes for Māori and Pacific people

The New Zealand Health Survey reveals that cost presents a more significant barrier to accessing GP care for Māori and Pacific people, with approximately one in five Māori adults and one in six Pacific adults reporting unmet need for GP services due to cost.





Prevalence



#### Source: NZIER, NZHS data

The rising prevalence of long-term conditions and multimorbidity for Māori and Pacific people is directly related to poor outcomes for these groups. Treatment of conditions and their complications is essential to prevent the worst outcomes, but equitable outcomes will not be achieved through secondary prevention alone. Without a greater focus on primary prevention, equity of outcomes will never be achieved.

Allied health professionals' approach to health and wellness is heavily focused on addressing risk factors of injury and illness through effective primary prevention. The most important risk factors for long term conditions are obesity and tobacco use, both of which are significantly more common in Māori and Pacific people. But if cost is a significant barrier for access to primary care, it is an even greater barrier to most allied health services which are less likely to be subsidised.



## Figure 14 Prevalence of risk factors by ethnicity



#### Source: NZIER, NZHS data

One way that allied health professionals can help reduce access barriers and provide access to risk factor prevention and management is through outreach services.

Underserved areas can be cost-effectively addressed through mobile outreach programmes. Allied health practitioners working in a tier 1 interprofessional team could, along with nursing staff, visit underserved communities to provide health screening, initiate preventive care, assist in the management of chronic conditions, provide patient education, address social determinants of health and other risk factors, provide lifestyle advice and offer therapies that may otherwise not be accessed. Mobile outreach may provide a costeffective way of reducing barriers to a range of tier 1 services for people living in rural or highly deprived areas, and for people with disabilities.

For example, a Canadian Rehabilitation Mobile Outreach team visited 14 rural communities in eastern and northern Ontario and was highly rated by patients who benefitted from services provided (Wilson et al. 2005). The team comprised 36 rural physicians and 62 allied health professionals.

Many mobile clinic models around the world have a strong focus on person-centred care with education and patient empowerment being key elements of their interactions with service users. These elements have been shown to help break down "barriers resulting from poor patient-provider communication, mistrust, and sense of disempowerment among minority communities" (Yu et al. 2017).

The Health and Disability System Review identified that the secondary workforce is under strain and noted the high proportion of budgets spent on medical consultant salaries. Allied health practitioners could provide a cost-effective and safe triage function to reduce the tier 2 demand burden with appropriate workforce substitution.

## 5.2 Improved quality, safety and the patient's experience of care

Quality can be broadly defined as providing the right services at the right time for the right person and achieving the best possible outcomes Quality care is delivered according to the best evidence of clinical effectiveness, as acknowledged by the widely used United States Institute of Medicine definition which states that quality is: "The degree to which health services for individuals and populations increase the likelihood of desired health outcomes

and are consistent with current professional knowledge" (United States Institute of Medicine, as cited in WHO, 2018).

Patient safety is simply defined by the World Health Organization as preventing and reducing risks, errors and harm to patients in the delivery of health services. The WHO argues that "to ensure successful implementation of patient safety strategies; clear policies, leadership capacity, data to drive safety improvements, skilled health care professionals and effective involvement of patients in their care, are all needed" (World Health Organization 2019).

## 5.2.1 Allied health and the quality, safety and experience opportunity

The right care at the right time, delivered in the right way for the right person is impossible to achieve if the public health system does not employ the right mix of professionals. Allied health professionals are highly trained, highly specialised practitioners who can offer safe and effective, evidence-based interventions for a wide range of conditions.

Chronic pain conditions are one example where allied health services may be key to both quality and safety improvements. The increased use of opioid analgesics in recent years in New Zealand has resulted in misuse and addiction and is a key quality and safety concern in the health and disability system (Bpac, n.d.).

Opioids are commonly prescribed for chronic pain conditions, with the most common being back and neck pain, osteoarthritis and extremity pains, shoulder pain, headache, orofacial pain, pelvic pain, and fibromyalgia or chronic widespread pain (Boudreau et al. 2009). These conditions are typically managed in primary care settings. Access to allied health care may in many cases provide effective management of pain without the need to resort to opioid use.

Allied health practitioners can support safer use of medication by working with patients, GPs and pharmacists to reduce unnecessary medication:

- Some US states have now recognised that the key to reducing opioid prescribing and addressing chronic pain is increased access to physiotherapy and osteopathic and chiropractic care (Bennett 2021).
- Numerous studies demonstrate that remedial massage therapy can reduce chronic pain and reduce opioid consumption. For example, a systematic review and metaanalysis (Furlan et al., 2012) found that acupuncture, massage, spinal manipulation, and mobilisation were significantly more efficacious than no treatment, placebo, physical therapy, or usual care in reducing pain.
- A 2019 meta-analysis of nonpharmacologic approaches to pain management showed that meditation, cognitive-behavioural therapy, hypnosis, and nonhypnotic therapeutic suggestion provided clinically significant benefits (Schwenk 2019).
- Polypharmacy in older people is a complex problem that is associated with hypoglycaemia, malnutrition, pneumonia, fractures, hospitalisation and death (Frazier 2005). While rates of polypharmacy have fallen somewhat since 2012, they remain high, particularly in people aged 85 and older, but Māori and Pacific people receive more medicines at a younger age (33 percent of Māori and 46 percent of Pacific people aged 65-74 were dispensed five or more long-term medicines in 2016, compared with 24 percent of European/other) (HQSC n.d.). Two major risk factors for

polypharmacy are multiple co-morbidities and medication non-adherence, both amenable to more pro-active allied health interventions.

Increased medication adherence support is also likely to improve quality of care: A New Zealand based study (Chepulis et al, 2020) on the barriers to self-management of type 2 diabetes revealed that those with poorly controlled diabetes had trouble remembering to take medication.

Quality and safety are intrinsically linked to equity, as shown by studies of low back pain (LBP) in indigenous and acculturated populations in high-income countries, which have found that medical interventions can have harmful effects and that more holistic, non-medical approaches provide better outcomes (Buchbinder et al., 2018).

The chronic care model (Wagner et al 1996) underpins best practice approaches to the delivery of health care for people with long-term conditions. In this model, six interdependent components support effective community-based care: community resources, health system support, self-management support, delivery system design, decision support and clinical information systems. In terms of experience of care, the patient is enabled to become an informed and active participant in the development and implementation of a personalised care plan, supported by a proactive primary care team. The inclusion of allied health professionals in these teams is recognised by the Ministry of Health which (Ministry of Health 2016b) specifically indicated that "nurses and general practitioners need to be part of a wider multidisciplinary team... (including) Māori providers, Pacific providers, community pharmacists, community mental health workers, allied health professionals and medical specialists" (Ministry of Health 2016b, 10).

Self-management and self-management support are core components of person- and whanau-centred care. Support for self-management is also one of the four components of the Chronic Care Model that is considered to be essential for high-quality care for people with chronic conditions (Wagner, 1998). Effective self-management reduces health system costs, frees up resources for other uses, and improves outcomes and patient experience.

Many long term conditions are not only amenable to self-management but there is a wealth of evidence that self-management is more likely to lead to improved outcomes provided patients are supported in their efforts. A major systematic review of self-management interventions for long term conditions with evidence from nearly 10,000 published studies found that self-management support interventions were most likely to result in improvements in patient-level outcomes (Reynolds et al. 2018).

## Delivering a biopsychosocial model of care

Many people with long-term conditions, disability or living with age-related functional decline experience challenges in day-to-day functioning, in maintaining social and economic participation, and consequently face a growing level of dependency and service use with impending threat of institutionalisation.

An appropriate model of care in such cases is based on the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health (ICF) and indicates that a biopsychosocial model of care will deliver best outcomes.

## Figure 15 The biopsychosocial model of health

(selected dimensions)



#### Source: NZIER

Parkinson's disease presents one of the many examples of how a collaborative interprofessional tier 1 team could work to provide safer, higher quality care with a better patient experience than traditionally organised primary and community services to deliver better outcomes for patients.

A person with Parkinson's disease experiences changes in mobility; has difficulties with showering and dressing, cooking and driving; experiences weight loss and chest infections; and can struggle with writing, speaking, and singing. Engaging the patient in a goal-setting exercise allows the individual to identify priorities for care based on what will have the greatest impact on their quality of life, taking into account their particular circumstances. For example, they may have goals to:

- maintain nutrition, and swallow safely
- reduce risk of falls and keep active
- be able to socialize and communicate with family and friends
- have options for transport and driving
- keep mentally well and have social connections and support.

These goals could be achieved with a broad interprofessional team offering occupational therapy, physiotherapy, speech and language therapy, dietetic services, and social work, with links to support groups in the community and potentially with access to interventions like music therapy and remedial massage therapy.

The biopsychosocial model can offer better quality, safety and patient experience for a wide range of chronic conditions, including diabetes an COPD, as well as functional disorders, including chronic pain, chronic fatigue, irritable bowel syndrome, and also complex multi-morbidity. The biopsychosocial model can also provide better alignment between the health and disability system and the Treasury's Living Standards Framework (see Figure 16 below).



## Figure 16 The 12 domains of current wellbeing



Source: Treasury, 2019

## Integration and navigation

Better integration and navigation are improvements that can deliver better outcomes and a better experience of care.

Some vertical integration – integration of tier 1 and tier 2 services – is already in existence with varying degrees of effectiveness. In some cases, vertical integration could still be improved. In addition, horizontal integration – integration of different tier 1 services, including allied health and other community-based services – is less common.

A common thread across tier 1 services and up to tier 2 services is Allied Health. Allied health practitioners often already work in settings that connect tiers vertically, for instance in DHB-funded community allied health teams where the focus is on post-discharge rehabilitation for stroke patients, post-operative patients, and older people. These roles provide significant potential for better integration both vertically and horizontally.

Patient navigators are trained, culturally sensitive health or social care workers who provide support and help families navigate through the various components of the health and social services systems. Where patient navigators exist, it is often a role played by nurses, social workers, or other allied health practitioners.

A scoping review (Peart et al, 2018) of studies on patient navigators found that these roles may help connect people needing tier 1 health services to appropriate providers and extend patient-centred care across different healthcare settings, suggesting that patient navigators may be particularly appropriate for network-based tier 1 services.



Allied health practitioners could extend their scope of practice to include patient navigation easily as they already have a strong understanding of the health system, are used to working in interprofessional teams and can work effectively with clinical staff.

## 5.3 Best value for public health system resources

Best value for public health system resources is what economists call efficiency. Efficiency is often understood as meaning minimising wasteful use of resources or even just cost cutting. But the concept of efficiency is reflected in multiple levels for health system decision-making due to three relevant types of efficiency: Technical efficiency, productive efficiency and allocative efficiency. These types of efficiency indicate that cost-cutting is not in itself a determinant of efficiency or value in a health system, and that waste minimisation is important but not sufficient.

#### **Technical efficiency**

Technical efficiency in health refers to the relationship between resources (capital and labour) and health outcomes for a given service or intervention. Technical efficiency is maximised when either the maximum possible improvement in outcome is obtained from a given set of resource inputs or when the resources inputs used for a given outcome are minimised without changing the intervention or service. Therefore, health care is technically inefficient if the same (or greater) outcome could be produced with less of at least one type of input.

In practice, technical efficiency in hospital-based care has often been the focus of health care efficiency improvements. Minimising hospital stays without associated worsening of outcomes, or fitting more operations into operating theatre sessions have been improvements in technical efficiency. Technical efficiency is simply about reducing waste.

#### **Productive efficiency**

But best value in a public health system demands more than simply reducing waste.

Productive efficiency in health refers to health care resources being put to the best possible use, producing as much benefit as they can in terms of a particular outcome. Productive efficiency requires assessment of the many ways in which a given input can be used and then choosing those uses that offer the best value.

Service reconfiguration to shift some services currently offered in tier 2 settings to tier 1 settings can be productively efficient: For example, specialist time is better spent performing complex procedures than minor procedures; GP time is better spent performing minor procedures than providing lifestyle advice; and allied health practitioners can safely take on the need for lifestyle advice.

Similarly, expanding scope of practice for allied health practitioners or supporting allied health practitioners to practise at the top of their scope would enable them to take on some of the work that is currently at the bottom of the GP or specialist scope of practice, enhancing productive efficiency in the system.

Productive efficiency allows a system to deliver more value at the same cost.

#### **Allocative efficiency**

Allocative efficiency in health encompasses the concept of productive efficiency, delivering the best value out of inputs, but broadens it to inform resource allocation decisions where

outcomes may differ and, by implication, so may the beneficiary. For example, choosing between spending on preventive care for working age people with pre-diabetes and spending on high cost interventions to marginally prolong life in elderly cancer patients – two different types of care for different population groups, with different outcome measures – can be an allocative efficiency question.

The concept of allocative efficiency takes account the productive efficiency with which resources are used to produce health outcomes from either diabetes preventive care or high cost cancer care as well as the distribution of outcomes in the community and the value society places on these: Allocative efficiency is achieved when community welfare is maximised (Drummond, 1991). Achieving allocative efficiency clearly requires that communities participate in decision-making.

## 5.3.1 Allied health and the value opportunity

Integrating the allied health workforce into a publicly funded health and disability system is an enabler of greater efficiency, including technical, productive and allocative efficiency because:

- Shifting services that can be safely provided in lower cost settings by lower cost providers can improve technical efficiency in both tier 2 and tier 1 settings, but to do this the capacity of tier 1 settings will need to be increased.
- Providing non-surgical interventions can reduce the cost of achieving good outcomes and improved wellbeing.
- Providing complementary care that enhances the effectiveness and cost-effectiveness of GP care.
- Enabling patients to access allied health practitioners with expertise in primary prevention and management of long-term conditions can improve outcomes and wellbeing while reducing demand for costly treatment of complications.

Allied health practitioner salaries are estimated to be approximately \$90,000 or less in the New Zealand primary care context, offering significant potential for cost-effectively delivering both one-off interventions and more labour intensive care than under a GP (approximate salary \$280,000) (GPNZ, 2019).

Some work undertaken by GPs, and in some cases, nurses, could be undertaken by Allied Health professionals with no compromise to patient safety or quality of care. Treatments for musculoskeletal issues and chronic pain, support for healthier lifestyles, well child checks could all be provided safely and effectively by Allied Health professionals at a lower cost than they are currently provided by GPs. This would free up GP time to take on some of the services that are currently provided by specialists in an outpatient setting but which could safely be delivered in a primary care setting, resulting in even greater savings.

Working with people to manage their diabetes and prevent complications is another example where there is real potential of system savings: The estimated cost of treating a diabetic foot wound in a hospital setting is approximately \$30,000, leading to calls from researchers for the establishment of multidisciplinary diabetic foot teams (Joret et al. 2016). Such clinics have been shown to improve patient outcomes and reduce health system costs (Joret et al. 2019) and could be included in tier 1 services.

Outcomes in diabetes and many other conditions are often associated with medication adherence. A Cochrane review (Nieuwlaat et al. 2014) recommended further exploration of the role of allied health practitioners in delivering interventions to enhance medication adherence, including counselling. The review noted that doctors not only have limited time, but also have limited skills to counsel patients on medication adherence repeatedly. The review found that several complex interventions involving allied health practitioners were effective in increasing medication and again recommended further exploring the potential role of non-medical personnel in light of the importance of patients' social contexts in the management of long-term conditions. In this way, allied health practitioners offer a complementary service that improves the effectiveness of GP prescribing for long-term conditions.

Productive and allocative efficiencies resulting from increased use of allied health services, however, may take many years to be achieved. Allied health practitioners' focus on prevention means that many impacts will often not be observed for long periods of time and this has put allied health interventions at a disadvantage for cost-effectiveness evidence. The effectiveness of preventive care is notoriously difficult to evaluate when outcomes are long term and result from complex interplay of biopsychosocial factors as well as services and treatments over a long period of time. Long term follow-up in health research often means 12 months or more, not 12 years.

## 5.4 **Provider experience – the critical fourth dimension**

Many other health systems add a fourth aim to the standard triple aim framework and this is increasingly true in New Zealand as well (see for example, HQSC). Provider experience reflects the workload, work type, pressures, recognition, support and training needs that health professionals need to be able to continue in their roles, reduce absenteeism and burn-out, and support delivery of safe and effective care. Provider experience, along with efficiency, underpins the sustainability of the system.

In reconfiguring the health and disability system, there are significant risks that pressures on GPs and other professionals will result in detrimental provider experience that reduces the effectiveness of system changes. It is also imperative that changes made to reduce pressures, such as integrating the allied health workforce to help reduce GP workload, are supported by other measures to ensure new collaborative models of care are accompanied by positive and productive interprofessional relationships.

#### 5.4.1 Allied health and the provider experience opportunity

The Health workforce is the foundation of the health system and the sustainability of the workforce underpins the sustainability of every part of the system.

Strained health systems in many countries have been relying on increasingly heavy workloads for health professionals to continue providing adequate care for increasing and ageing populations without commensurate funding increases for education, training, recruitment and staffing.

The levels of stress, mental health issues and burnout amongst health professionals have become major concerns. In New Zealand up to 10 percent of GPs have reported showing psychological symptoms of concern, 46 percent of GPs felt that their work had affected their physical health, and 57 percent indicate they often think about leaving general practice (Henning at al. 2009).

A UK study (Fisher et al., 2017) of GPs attitudes about workloads and stress found that GPs were becoming more open to:

- Patients taking greater responsibility for self-management (although this required education and GPs did not believe they should be responsible for this)
- Increased delegation of tasks that would allow better workload management
- Innovative use of allied health professionals
- Extended roles for non-clinical staff
- Telephone triage.

A New Zealand-based study (Darlow et al. 2014) of GP's underlying beliefs about low back pain (LBP) provides an example of the type of care that may be best delegated to allied health professionals. The study found that dealing with LBP was not seen as an enjoyable part of GPs' work and chronic LBP was seen as 'very hard work'.

In the UK, the professional workforce delivering primary care is currently being broadened, resulting in multiple primary care service models as alternatives to traditional GP-led care. These include "first contact practitioners" – typically physiotherapists with extended skill sets who can assess and provide management plans for patients with musculoskeletal conditions – as well as primary care nurse practitioners and physician associates who provide a first-contact service and triage (Babatunde et al. 2020).

Interprofessional practice can be challenging for practitioners who have not been trained for it. Many allied health professionals already work within interprofessional teams or in environments that require the skills and disciplines of interprofessional practice. Integrating allied health professionals into primary care teams could introduce interprofessional behaviours to improve the effectiveness of the primary care team. Allied health practitioners are often used to working across different locations and may be able to assist GP practices in connecting with other professionals across the health and social services.

## 6 Tier 1 design elements for maximising allied health impact

The New Zealand Health Strategy states that "a great system will find a balance that matches the most important needs with the best use of skills and resources" (Ministry of Health 2016a). This statement recognises that although there are multiple challenges in the redesign of a new health system, the health workforce and the way it is utilised is a core determinant of the strength of the system as a whole.

Current use of allied health is sub-optimal. The solution requires a fundamental shift in the way tier 1 services are organised and in the behaviours of the tier 1 workforce.

In designing tier 1 services to support interprofessional practice with increased allied health input, critical design elements include:

- The patient-centred medical home (PCMH)
- Practice ownership and governance models that support greater community participation and breakdown professional hierarchies
- Payment models that align with service models
- Referrals processes for direct access to a range of health professionals
- Workforce redesign, including extended scope
- Cost containment measures
- Culture shift
- Empowering with information.

## 6.1 The patient-centred medical home

The concept of PCMHs – originally coined medical homes – was introduced by the American Academy of Paediatrics in 1967 as a model of primary care for children with special health care needs. It aimed to provide coordinated multidisciplinary care to manage complex conditions and developmental problems. The model is based on the principle of providing care that is continuous, comprehensive, coordinated, compassionate, family centred, and culturally appropriate (Grant and Greene 2012).

This model has evolved internationally, including a variation in New Zealand, to become a common approach to care for people with long-term conditions with an emphasis on empowering patients to self-manage. US-based primary care initiatives under the patient-centred medical home model provide lessons for system design to support team-based tier 1 care.

The "enhanced medical home", a recent variation on patient-centred medical homes, was introduced in the United States as a model of care for medically underserved, high-risk populations. It uses electronic health records, facilitates access to specialty care, integrates allied health services (e.g., mental health and oral health care in the primary care setting), offers transportation, and employs staff for case management and care coordination. (Grant and Greene 2012).

PCMH models are an ideal for areas of high deprivation, where multi-morbidity and high prevalence of risk factors are observed. PCMHs provide a context in which allied health professionals can add significant value to tier 1 services due to the focus on proactive care for patients with complex needs, greater engagement with patients in planning their care, the interprofessional team approach, and the use of coordination and navigation to support patient journeys.

The staffing mix for the patient-centred medical home includes existing roles and professions as well as extended scope and new roles, many of which are allied health roles or able to be filled by allied health practitioners.

A staffing model proposed by General Practice New Zealand (GPNZ) identified that adapting successful US PCMH models to the New Zealand context, and depending upon whether a practice serves a high need area or not, a multi-disciplinary staffing model would require 32 to 42.6 FTE per 10,000 enrolled patients, including 7 to 9.5 roles for allied health practitioners or which could potentially be filled by allied health practitioners (including navigator and manager roles), respectively (see table below). These staffing ratios suggest that allied health professionals should amount to up to one third of staff in a PCMH model.

Table 2 Staffing requirements for a New Zealand PCIVIH model								
	GP	Nurse Practitioner	Nurse	Reception/ administration	Behaviourist/ Counsellor			
FTE per 10,000 high needs patients	7.9	4.0	6.0	6.7	3.5			
FTE per 10,000 non-high needs patients	6.0	2.0	4.5	5.0	2.5			
_	Social worker/ Kaiawhina/ Navigator	Health care assistant	Clinical pharmacist	Physiotherapist	Trainee doctor			
FTE per 10,000 high needs patients	2.5	4.0	1.0	1.0	1.0			
FTE per 10,000 non-high needs patients	1.0	3.0	1.0	1.0	1.0			
	Trainee nurse	Trainee allied health	Student clinicians	Manager	Total team FTE			
FTE per 10,000 high needs patients	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	42.6			
FTE per 10,000 non-high needs patients	1.0	1.0	2.0	1.0	32.0			

# Table 2 Staffing requirements for a New Zealand PCMH model

Source: GPNZ, 2020

The staffing requirements of an effective PCMH imply significant costs. Patel et al. (2013) estimated that the incremental cost of additional staffing would be USD\$4.68 (range USD\$3.79-USD\$6.43) per enrolled patient per month. That is, the annual cost of implementing a PCMH staffing model would be approximately NZ\$87 per patient, or \$870,000 for a practice serving 10,000 patients (inflated to 2021 and converted to NZ dollars at the USD/NZD exchange rate on 10 February 2021).

Evaluations of the PCMH model have revealed impacts that may mean the additional costs of PCMH-style staffing could be funded by health system savings from:

- Up to 29 percent fewer emergency department visits (Reid et al. 2010)
- Up to 18 percent fewer hospital admissions (Maeng et al. 2012)
- Up to 36 percent fewer readmissions (Maeng et al. 2012).

In areas where population and population need is too small or insufficiently concentrated to support a PCMH model, patients should still have access to the benefits of interprofessional collaborative tier 1 care teams. This can be made possible by requiring tier 1 providers to form alliances or networks. In these arrangements, multiple provider organisations are held jointly accountable for the health outcomes of an identified population. Some positive impacts have been observed in New Zealand (Gauld et al. 2019) and in the United Kingdom (Wrigley 2018), however experience with alliances and networks suggests they do not always lead to team-based care (Hutchison et al. 2011; Drew and Norton 2010) so additional design elements may be required.

Network-based teams require strong support as GP resistance, IT problems, and information governance challenges have been noted as significant barriers in many contexts.

## 6.2 Practice ownership and governance models

According to the RNZCGP GP Workforce Survey 2018, most (over 70 percent) GPs work in GP-owned practices, and community, trust, charity and iwi-owned practices are relatively rare.

	Total GPs	Urban	Not clearly urban or rural	Rural
Unweighted base =	2773	2067	242	464
	%	%	%	%
Owned by one or more GPs who work in the practice	71	74	66	62
Community owned or owned by a trust or charity	7	6	4	12
Fully or partially corporate owned	9	9	7	9
Fully or partially owned by a PHO or a GP organisation	4	3	7	5
Fully or partially owned by a DHB	1	1	2	3
Fully or partially owned by an iwi	2	1	3	3
Owned by a university (student health)	1	2	0	0
Other	5	4	10	6
Total	100	100	100	100

#### Figure 17 Practice ownership in New Zealand

Total may not sum to 100% due to rounding.

Source: RNZCGP, 2018

The significance of practice ownership on organisational behaviour should not be underestimated: "Ownership confers governance responsibility (ultimate control) for an organisation, and accountability for its actions" (Crampton 2005).

GP practices that are community-governed and not-for-profit may be better suited to delivering team-based care to patients with complex care needs, particularly in communities where complex care needs are common and co-exist with high-deprivation and minority populations.

Salaried practices, whether in high-needs areas or not, remove the direct employer/employee relationship between the GP-owner and any other staff. This factor has been identified as a barrier to effective teamwork (Pullon, McKinlay, and Dew 2009).

The Canadian EICP identified that community models of primary care, where services are planned and delivered under a governance authority that includes public representation and assumes responsibility for a population, can promote continuity and coordination of care amongst providers across a horizontally or vertically integrated network. This was in contrast to the 'professional model' where health professionals work in private practice with no formal care coordination or care continuity mechanisms.

A study of Canadian models found that community-type models offer improved equity of access, effectiveness, continuity, and quality, as well as cost reduction (Lamarche et al. 2003).



## Figure 18 Comparison of community and professional models

These findings are generally consistent with Gauld et al.'s (2019) analysis of the characteristics of New Zealand's GP practices by ownership type. Non-profit and government owned practices are more likely to remunerate by salary, or at least rely less on co-payments, while private, for profit GP practices derive more income from co-payments.

As shown in table below, while private non-profit practices and government-owned practices are more willing to cater to diversity and produce public and quasi-public goods, they are less responsive to increases in demand than private for-profit GP practices.



Source: Lamarche et al., 2003

	Ownership			
Characteristic	Private non-profit	Private for-profit**	Government	
Direct accountability to government	+	+	+++	
Willingness to cater to diversity	+++	+	++ / +++	
Likelihood of producing public goods and quasi-public goods	+++	+	+++	
Able to experiment with new policy options	+++	++	++	
Likelihood of exploiting information asymmetries between patients and providers	+	+++	+	
Likelihood of disguised profit distribution (disguised profit)	+++	+	+	
Responsiveness to increases in demand	+	+++	++	
Likelihood of blunting more extensive policy development	+++	+++	+	

#### Table 3 Characteristics of New Zealand GP practices by ownership type

\* + small ++ intermediate +++ large.

\*\* Private for-profit ownership can be further divided into proprietary-style general practice to entrepreneurial investorowned organisations (see below).

Source: Gauld et al., 2019

Based on the overall characteristics of GP practice ownership models, the primary strength of the private for-profit model is its responsiveness to increases in demand. However, if the GP workforce is severely constrained, this will only be possible when the practice can employ other health professionals to take on some of the workload.

Like many small businesses in New Zealand, however, a radical change in the business model is a difficult hurdle to overcome. Employing other health professionals and adopting team-based approaches can mean a need for investment in new capital, a greater need for management and administrative staff, and the cost of developing service models and processes to ensure quality and safety. It is also a significant risk: GP practice owners are likely to be conservative with regards to changes if they are not sure patients will like them. A cost without a reasonably well-assured increase in revenue is not an attractive option for a business owner.

Experience with different models in Canada (Lamarche et al. 2003) and in New Zealand (Crampton 2005) indicates that another way in which community-governed non-profits differ from for-profit providers is the engagement of meaningful community participation in governance. The current primary care system requires community participation in the governance of PHOs, but as PHOs have little control over the business decisions of for-profit providers, it is not clear that community participation at the PHO level impacts significantly on the behaviour of for-profit providers.

# 6.3 Payment models that align with service models

Alongside the PCMH model, new payment models have emerged that are better aligned to the model of care that a PCMH is designed to deliver. The blended payment model provides a combination of:

• fee-for-service payment to incentivise responsiveness for improved access to care



- financial incentives for performance on quality and efficiency targets, with an upfront component to help fund innovation and an ex-post component on achievement of targets
- a capitation-type payment to support population-based service planning and core care delivery
- a prospective, bundled structural practice fee to cover the additional overhead costs associated with non-traditional staffing and coordination of collaborative care activities
- a prospective, bundled care management and coordination fee to cover the labour costs of GP and non-GP clinical and administrative activities that exceed what is normally provided in a traditional, face-to-face primary care visit.

In New Zealand, these could be implemented with or without the fee-for-service payment, although a fee-for-service payment may be desirable to ensure responsiveness if patient co-payments were abolished. The advantages of fee-for-service remuneration – the standard remuneration model in Canadian professional care models – have been well documented and are well understood (see for example Love and Blick, 2014). In New Zealand, patient co-payments largely substitute for the fee-for-service remuneration that Canadian GPs receive, and these help to improve provider responsiveness and accessibility, although in areas where many patients are unable to afford co-payments, this incentive will break down without compensating effects.

The incentives created by fees are important considerations for any discussion of abolishing co-payments through increased capitation. Primary care providers receive roughly 35 percent of their income from fees and co-payments so the incentive effects of this type of payment are likely to be strong drivers of behaviour in the current system.



## Figure 19 Primary care provider income breakdown

Source: Carter (2017)

Financial incentives for performance on quality and efficiency targets should be extended in New Zealand to include performance on equity targets.



Within provider organisations, more teamwork has been observed in not-for-profit community models where combinations of the following apply:

- health professionals are paid by salary
- incomes are interdependent (such as fixed shares of capitation funding)
- funding is linked to the team as a whole and accountability lines are minimised
- professional contracts specifically state expectations for team-based care, more team work is observed

### (Wranik et al. 2017)

Processes must be established to identify and recognise the structural capability of tier 1 teams to determine whether access to payments designed for collaborative care should be granted. This can be challenging because there is no specific formula for collaborative care team composition (SCIE 2018). The mix of professions and disciplines in the overall team (within a practice or across a network) should reflect the needs of the population, while a specific patient's team should draw from the network to reflect the specific patient's needs and preferences. At the same time, teams should be small enough to allow members to know and trust each other and support good communication.

The American Academy of Family Physicians provides some guidance as to what features may be required to be demonstrated to evaluate tier 1 teams:

- Physician time dedicated to care management
- Nonphysician staff time dedicated to care management
- Patient education
- Use of advanced technology to support care management
- Medication management
- Population risk stratification and management
- Integrated, coordinated care across the health care system
- Patient-centred care planning.

## 6.4 Referrals processes for direct access to a range of health professionals

Currently the only way patients can access publicly funded allied health practitioners is through a GP referral (see Figure 20 below). But GPs often lack the knowledge of allied health practitioner's skillsets to know what kind of allied health professional is the right one, or to appropriately choose between treating patients themselves or referring on and between referring to a specialist or an allied health practitioner (as described in section 3.4).



#### Figure 20 Traditional GP-controlled access

Source: NZIER: Bealing, 2020

On the other hand, patients often know what kind of care they want to receive and who they want to receive it from or could be advised or triaged without needing to access a GP.

Enabling patients to access allied health practitioners more directly, possibly with triage or advice, could reduce the burden on GPs while improving patient experience and outcomes. To the extent that GPs favour referrals to specialists where a referral to allied health may be more appropriate, this may also result in lower health system costs.





Source: AHANZ 2021, based on NZIER, 2019

There is a growing body of evidence suggesting that direct access to physiotherapy for musculoskeletal conditions leads to comparable clinical outcomes as GP care with lower healthcare consumption (Babatunde et al. 2020).

In England's National Health Service (NHS), a First Contact Practitioner Service is provided by a registered health professional who is the first point of contact for patients, providing new expertise and increased capacity to general practice, and providing patients with faster access to the right care. A First Contact Practitioner (FCP) is a qualified autonomous clinical practitioner who is able to assess, diagnose, treat and discharge a person without a medical referral, where appropriate (NHS England and NHS Improvement, 2019).

Patients are typically signposted by the GP receptionist, care navigator, online triage software, or they can self-refer through their registered practice. The goal of introducing FCP services is to reduce GP waiting times by ensuring patients are seen by the 'right person, first time' as well as promoting lifestyle changes and self-care which reduces the national burden of MSK health. The proposed benefits of implementing an FCP service model include:

- Reduced burden on GP services
- Reduced burden on secondary care services
- Financial savings for CCGs
- Freeing up of NHS resources, including staff, equipment, and space
- Reduced waiting times for orthopaedics, pain services, rheumatology, community physiotherapy and CMATS (Clinical Musculoskeletal Assessment and Treatment Services)
- Improved accuracy of secondary care referrals
- Developed conversion rate to surgery when referrals are required
- Better links with local voluntary sector and patient groups to ensure the continued support of individuals with MSK conditions
- Treatment timescales are quicker leading to improved patient outcomes
- Overall improvement of population health and patient care

(The Osteopathic Foundation 2020)

FCP services are also reported to deliver a return on investment of £0.81 to £2.37 for every £1 spent on implementing FCP services (Davies C, 2017); with some studies suggesting an even higher return according to Public Health England (2017).

## 6.5 Workforce redesign, including extended scope

Redesigning the health system based on traditional and narrow views of workforce roles and scope of practice will not support a shift to using the right skills to provide the right care at the right time and in the right place: *"We can design innovative new care models, but they simply won't become a reality unless we have a workforce with the right numbers, skills, values and behaviours to deliver it"* (NHS England, 2014, pp.29-30). New ways of working may require:

- A focus on scopes of practice and how to enable extended scope where needed
- A mix of skill levels to support different approaches to team-based care and different team compositions
- Management skills at the team level to make the most of complementarity, substitution, and supplementation of skills
- More collaborative/dynamic role boundaries
- Possible increased specialisation in some roles and increased generalisation in others
- Acceptance that some roles may overlap, potentially by deliberate design.

#### (NHS England 2014)

Traditional approaches to workforce planning have focused on increased workforce training. But this hinders innovation and a shift to team-based care for two reasons: Training programmes are unidisciplinary, and they tend to respond to current roles and system structure rather than introducing innovation in these areas.

An alternative approach to workforce planning is to focus on skill flexibility (identifying and describing the specific circumstances where one health professional may substitute for another, and enabling this to happen in practice), skill development (building on existing skills to enable extended scope of practice), and the development of new roles to meet the needs and preferences of the population. Once established, these can be reflected in training programmes.



## Figure 22 Routes to workforce change for an improved health system

Source: NZIER, based on Imison, Castle-Clarke, and Watson (2016)

### Nationally-defined scopes of practice for extended and new roles

Extending scope of practice and creating skill flexibility, means deliberately creating overlap between scopes of different professionals. With any overlap, which may be dealt with differently in practice from setting to setting, there is a real risk of creating role confusion which has the combined impact of professionals being unclear about responsibilities and also a lack of transferability between settings of care or even provider organisations in the same setting (Miller et al. 2015).

To reduce these risks, national organisations should agree on core skills and responsibilities and work towards developing a nationally defined scope of practice. But it is also important not to be too prescriptive as the workforce mix and population need varies geographically. A national approach should still allow room for local flexibility. This can be achieved by recommending and enabling potential optional adjustments to scopes of practice to allow provider organisations to safely tailor roles to respond better to local needs and make best use of available workforce.

#### **Non-medical prescribing**

One option for extended scope of practice is non-medical prescribing by allied health practitioners. Prescribing of medicines has historically been dominated by doctors in the NHS, but since 1994 government policy has allowed prescribing professionals to include nurses, pharmacists, podiatrists, radiographers, optometrists, dietitians and physiotherapists (i5 Health 2015; Latter et al. 2010).

In New Zealand, non-medical prescribing has followed a piecemeal approach rather than a coherent, system-approach to decision-making. For example:

- Dietitians' prescribing rights only apply to special foods and a limited range of nutrition-related medicines but not to commonly prescribed medicines used in the management of diabetes.
- Optometrists are authorised to prescribe medication for simple eye infections, but audiologists are not authorised to do the same for simple ear infections.

Broader considerations of system integration and continuity of care need to be factored into decisions about non-medical prescribing, along with cost implications. In the UK, non-medical prescribing has been found to be safe and to offer value for money:

- A major study of non-medical prescribing by nurses and pharmacists (Latter et al. 2010) found that non-medical prescribing was safe and clinically appropriate. It was also associated with a high level of patient satisfaction.
- A UK-based clinical audit evaluating over 1000 non-medical prescribing events by allied health practitioners, found that that for patients seen by an allied health professional, 20 percent avoided the need for a GP visit and 11 percent avoided the need for a GP home visit. (The College of Podiatry, n.d.)
- An economic evaluation (i5 Health 2015) of non-medical prescribing in primary care settings found that it offers significant savings in both tier 1 and tier 2 services.

#### Allied health ambassadors

A RAND Corporation report (Herman and Coulter 2015) identified a potential solution to overcoming barriers to integration of primary care and allied health: the development of allied health "ambassadors". These extended scope practitioners would be developed with

shared clinical training, shadowing, rotations, and residency. Their strength would be in being able to negotiate between professions and "speak both languages" (Herman and Coulter 2015, 35). By co-locating these professionals with traditional primary care teams, a strong link between the primary care team and the wider allied health professions would be enabled.

Allied health ambassadors can strengthen network and alliance arrangements and increase referrals from practices to allied health professionals within and outside the network. These roles are well-suited to PCMH models and traditional practices alike, for example if each PCMH or traditional practice in a geographic area employed a different allied health professional from others within the same geographic area, and the allied health group meet regularly do discuss referrals, patients may gain access to a wider range of services.

## 6.6 Cost containment measures

Cost containment is essential to the third dimension of the triple aim, value. Without measures to ensure patients get what they need but do not consume services that will not provide any net benefit, any system redesign risks rapidly becoming unsustainable.

A critical point is that cost containment is a reason for redesigning tier 1 services to better utilise the allied health workforce to improve access and outcomes and reduce utilisation of tier 2 services, so it is not in itself a justification for protecting the status quo.

In any efficient tier 1 service context, there should be some element of risk stratified care management and coordination and this is likely to be the best approach to cost containment in a system with greater access to allied health care. Risk stratification is a systematic categorisation of patients according to diagnoses, history of utilisation, demographic and other factors, which may include both objective and subjective information. Health professionals can carry out risk stratification, often with the use of tools to ensure consistency, or risk stratification can be automated based on patient data with the option of manual override by health professionals. The objectives of risk stratification are:

- Identifying the resources needed to provide appropriate care
- Focussing efforts of the care team on risk reduction
- Being better able to anticipate needs for patients
- Managing populations pro-actively with information about risk levels and risk dynamics.

In practice, risk stratification allows the appropriate care plan, including the care team, to be identified.

Developing care pathways that map to risk stratification provide a tool that allows for cost containment and supports consistency across providers.

A systematic review (Schneider et al., 2017) of the use of risk stratification with care management found that controlled studies provide evidence that risk stratification tools to determine the components of a care management plan is associated with reductions in hospital readmissions, improved patient satisfaction and improved patient outcomes. It also identified that clinician engagement, equity safeguards, alignment of the wider health system and data management and integration were important success factors.

# 6.7 Culture shift

New Zealand's predominantly publicly-funded health system was created to prevent market failures which are common in private health care markets, particularly asymmetric information and the opportunism it fosters.

As a result, many parts of the health system operate as a bureaucracy: An organisation that uses employment relations instead of market transactions and unifies employees under a commonality of purpose (Ouchi, 1980). Professional groups have the power to create a sense of community and reduce any differences between individual goals (such as those of the GP-practice owner) and organisational goals (those of the broader health system).

Professional groups or "Clans" often exist in organisations where it is difficult to determine individual performance, but the performance of groups may be clearer (Ouchi, 1980). While free-riding may be expected in such situations, the clan minimises this behaviour with a heavy focus on socialisation to align individual values with organisational values. Hence "Discipline is not achieved through contractualism or surveillance but through an extreme form of the belief that individual interests are best served by a complete immersion of each individual in the interests of the whole" (Kanter, 1972).

Professional socialisation is the subject of a vast amount of published studies. The socialisation of health professionals begins with education programmes and continues through residency programmes, training and ongoing professional development, conferences, and professional body membership requirements. These are all aimed at shaping a set of identities (individual, relational, and collective) and their interactions within a community of practice to give rise to a common professional identity ((Chandran et al. 2019)) (see Figure below).



# Figure 23 Elements of professional socialisation

Source: (Chandran et al. 2019)

Clans are well entrenched amongst health professionals in New Zealand and they may represent the most significant barrier to shift to multidisciplinary team-based care because the existing clans are strongly unidisciplinary.

In a report to the Ministry of Health in 2008(Workforce Taskforce 2008), the Workforce Taskforce identified the unidisciplinary training of health professionals as a barrier to effective teamwork: "It is not reasonable to expect graduates to automatically work as effective members of multidisciplinary teams when they have been trained in professional isolation". The Taskforce recommended that the Medical Training board and other training providers in the health sector identify and include collaboration and teamwork capabilities to be included in curricula.

A New Zealand study (Pullon, McKinlay, and Dew 2009) of nurses' and doctors' attitudes to and experiences of teamwork in primary care identified barriers to teamwork as including:

- a lack of training to work effectively in teams
- inadequate funding of professional development
- unidisciplinary focus of professional development

Two major initiatives overseas provide examples of barriers to identified two examples of barriers to teamwork being addressed at the policy level ((Pullon, McKinlay, and Dew 2009)):

- The Enhancing Interdisciplinary Collaboration in Primary Health Care (EICP) initiative in Canada
- the UK Centre for the Advancement of Interprofessional Learning (CAIPE)

EICP initiative focused on identifying the conditions required for health professionals to work together efficiently and effectively to deliver the best health outcomes for individuals and their families. The initiative was spearheaded by a Steering Committee of 11 national health professional organizations. It brought together leaders, health professionals, and key stakeholders in Canada's primary health care system including physicians, nurses, social workers, physiotherapists, speech-language pathologists, audiologists, dietitians, psychologists, pharmacists, occupational therapists and a national coalition on preventative practices provided leadership and direction to the Initiative. The objective was to agree on and drive a change process designed to facilitate more interdisciplinary collaboration. The EICP initiative was funded by Health Canada's Primary Health Care Transition Fund.

The UK's CAIPE is an independent think tank established to work with statutory and independent, professional and regulatory bodies, assemble and disseminate information and research, and run conferences and workshops to promote and develop interprofessional education, collaborative practice and evidence and research facilitating the development of a workforce skills in collaborative approaches.

In terms of process, the Nuffield Trust (Imison, Castle-Clarke, and Watson 2016) recommends that reshaping the workforce should follow critical steps of:

- awareness raising with a focus on engagement
- service analysis with a focus on the potential to change (including analysis of demand and workforce data)
- task analysis with a focus on risk (identifying risks to patients in tier 1 care)
- identification of needed competencies with a focus on best practice (what are the competencies required?)

- identifying the systems required to support best practice with a focus on governance structures
- analysis of current training models and development needs; and, finally ensuring sustainability with a focus on embedding new processes and structures (see Figure below).

Initiatives like EICP and CAIPE can provide needed momentum and sustainability to this process (Imison, Castle-Clarke, and Watson 2016).



### Figure 24 Critical steps to reshape the workforce

Source: Nuffield Trust, 2017

If greater teamwork is central to new models of care then incentives need to support the desired practices. Meta-analysis of factors that contribute to greater teamwork indicates that incentives work best with:

- small teams
- when the team faces complex tasks
- when rewards are equitable and
- when they are perceived as fair (Garbers and Konradt, 2014)

Context is important so the culture of the organisation and the members in it are important. Incentives are not just financial because recognition, improved work conditions and other incentives matter.

A major contribution to collaborative, interdisciplinary team work in tier 1 settings would be the development of a national competency framework for collaborative practice.

The Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative (CIHC) developed a National Interprofessional Competency Framework (Figure below) to guide the creation of education

programmes for health professionals. The framework sets out six competency domains that require development and integration of attitudes, behaviours, values, and judgments necessary for collaborative practice ((Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Office of Interprofessional Education n.d.). The six CIHC competency domains are:

- Role clarification
- Team functioning
- Interprofessional communication
- Patient/client/family/community-centred care
- Interprofessional conflict resolution
- Collaborative leadership

## 6.8 Empowering with information and technology

The role of information in changing behaviour is critical. As discussed in section 3.3, GPs referral behaviour is often based on a lack of information. A critical area where this lack of information may be justified by concerns about patient safety is the issue of professional responsibility and accountability. But Moffat et al. (2018) found that GP concerns that that patient safety could be compromised if medical issues were overlooked were unfounded in a trial involving direct access to physiotherapists and suggest that GPs may need to be better informed regarding the physiotherapists' training and the requirements of their professional registration. The same authors also suggested that if GPs were to gain experience of working with a physiotherapist, this may lead to greater confidence.

If concerns are about hidden medical issues that may not be identified by allied health practitioners, another commonly recommended improvement to primary care – immediate access to common diagnostics (GPNZ, 2019) – may also be an enabler of access to allied health. Extended scope allied health practitioners could order diagnostics to confirm treatment decisions where such concerns exist.

Technology is often treated as non-essential but 'nice to have' in health, but in this case it will be critical. It's no good having teams that are willing to work collaboratively for patient-centred care if they don't have the tools to do it.

There are three critical roles for technology in more integrated team-based tier 1 care:

- Sharing patient records across providers to avoid duplication and ensure providers have all relevant information to provide appropriate care
- Supporting patient choice and control
- Enabling better access to diagnostics in primary care
- Improving patient triage for safe direct access to non-medical professionals
- Enabling collection of data to allow monitoring and evaluation of new service delivery models and care pathways
- Overcoming information gaps that reinforce medical dominance

Generally, greater integration of allied health professionals in tier 1 services will require more information to both patients and other health professionals to indicate what each allied health profession can do and provide reassurance that allied health professionals are qualified practitioners who provide evidence-based care within a team with appropriate team-based planning and decision-making.

## 6.9 Monitoring progress in tier 1 service development

In order to track progress of investment in tier one health services and new models of care, clear, consistent and comparable indicators for monitoring need to be established. Reinstating New Zealand's national health account reporting using the OECD framework would allow for historical and international comparisons on our investment across service types.

The OECD system of health accounts provides a systematic description of the health system from an expenditure perspective as well as describing health system inputs and other factors driving expenditure. The health accounts were developed to help improve decisions about the allocation of resources in health systems in alignment with health system objectives. They provide critical information for both accountability and planning purposes but New Zealand has not reported on the more detailed indicators of health expenditure since 2007.

A more complete assessment of the impact of health and disability system changes will require additional, more specific indicators to be developed. From an allied health perspective, it will be important to track service level data on access and service utilisation to see how evolving models of care impact on patients and population outcomes. This may involve:

- Additional workforce indicators for allied health workforces (aligned with the existing OECD workforce indicators which currently include physicians, nurses, midwives, caring personnel, dentists, pharmacists, and physiotherapists)
- Service utilisation indicators for allied health services (aligned with the existing OECD doctor consultations indicator)
- New indicators specific to the development of interdisciplinary practice to complement the existing OECD health care quality indicators.

# 7 Recommendations

Better integration of allied health in publicly-funded tier 1 settings represents the most significant opportunity for achieving the equity, quality and efficiency goals that are fundamental to a strong public health and disability system, while also offering a solution to workforce sustainability issues of poor experiences and professional burn-out.

Most critically, for the shift from tier 2 settings to tier 1 settings to be possible without exacerbating existing equity and access issues, greater integration of allied health professionals will free up capacity to ensure patients flow to the right providers, for the right services, at the right time.

To make this a reality, we recommend important changes to system, funding, culture and information:

#### System

- Adopt patient-centred medical homes (PCMH) as the ideal model of care for interprofessional practice including allied health practitioners, to deliver maximum equity, quality and value particularly for patients with complex biopsychosocial factors and multimorbidity.
- Encourage more community governed models of tier 1 care delivery, with all staff paid on salary, to break down professional hierarchy.
- Improve referral flows with triage processes that could include specifically trained triage providers or extended scope first contact practitioners.

#### Funding

- Align payment to service models, including financial incentives for performance on quality and efficiency targets, and payments to cover the additional overhead and labour costs associated with non-traditional staffing and coordination of collaborative care activities.
- Require tier 1 teams to demonstrate capacity and activity of collaborative interprofessional teams based on criteria that allow flexibility of team composition and structure to respond to local need in order to access specific payments.

#### Culture

- Shift culture in health provider organisations from the top as well by bringing professional groups together to agree on a national competency framework for collaborative practice and identify changes to education programmes to support the development of interprofessional collaboration competencies in the workforce.
- Improve referrals across networks of providers with allied health ambassadors working in practice teams as well as across practice teams to improve trust and communication.
- Identify and enable extended scope of practice for allied health practitioners, supported by nationally defined scopes of practice.
- Review the criteria for regulation under the HPCA Act to ensure that these are consistent and supportive of wider health and disability system objectives, not only to reduce patient risk, but improve outcomes, recognising the role that regulation plays in professional trust, professional hierarchy, and the development of new models of care.

#### Information

- Empower clinicians, allied health professionals and patients with better information and information technology to increase sharing, communication, trust, and choice.
- Reinstate New Zealand's reporting of OECD health accounts at a detailed level and develop consistent and complementary indicators to monitor the impacts of health and disability system investments.

# 8 References

- Askerud, Anna, Chrystal Jaye, Eileen McKinlay, and Fiona Doolan-Noble. 2020. "What Is the Answer to the Challenge of Multimorbidity in New Zealand?" *Journal of Primary Health Care* 12 (2): 118. https://doi.org/10.1071/HC20028.
- Babatunde, Opeyemi O., Annette Bishop, Elizabeth Cottrell, Joanne L. Jordan, Nadia Corp, Katrina Humphries, Tina Hadley-Barrows, Alyson L. Huntley, and Danielle A. van der Windt. 2020. "A Systematic Review and Evidence Synthesis of Non-Medical Triage, Self-Referral and Direct Access Services for Patients with Musculoskeletal Pain." *PLOS ONE* 15 (7): e0235364. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0235364.
- Bennett, Katie. 2021. "States Are Changing Policies to Promote Opioid Alternatives." Practical Pain Management. January 21, 2021.

https://www.practicalpainmanagement.com/resources/ethics/rapid-rise-non-opioid-pain-policies.

- Boudreau, Denise, Michael Von Korff, Carolyn M. Rutter, Kathleen Saunders, G. Thomas Ray, Mark D. Sullivan, Cynthia I. Campbell, et al. 2009. "Trends in Long-Term Opioid Therapy for Chronic Non-Cancer Pain." *Pharmacoepidemiology and Drug Safety* 18 (12): 1166–75. https://doi.org/10.1002/pds.1833.
- Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative. A national interprofessional competency framework. February 2010. Available from: http://www.cihc.ca/files/CIHC\_IPCompetencies\_Feb1210.pdf
- Carter, Kim. 2017. "NZ Health System and General Practice Funding." In , 29. https://www.nzno.org.nz/Portals/0/Files/Documents/Groups/Primary%20Healthcare%20Nur ses/Conference%20Presentations/2018-02-23%20Kim%20Carter%20Health%20and%20GP%20Funding.pdf.
- Chandran, Latha, Richard J. Iuli, Lisa Strano-Paul, and Stephen G. Post. 2019. "Developing 'a Way of Being': Deliberate Approaches to Professional Identity Formation in Medical Education." *Academic Psychiatry* 43 (5): 521–27. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40596-019-01048-4.
- Chepulis, Lynne, Christopher Mayo, Brittany Morison, Rawiri Keenan, Chunhuan Lao, Ryan Paul, and Ross Lawrenson. 2020. "Metformin Adherence in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes and Its Association with Glycated Haemoglobin Levels." *Journal of Primary Health Care* 12 (4): 318– 26. https://doi.org/10.1071/HC20043.
- Chisholm. 2019. "GP Crisis: How the Shortage of Family Doctors Is Revolutionising Healthcare." August 29, 2019. https://www.noted.co.nz/health/health-health/gp-crisis-shortage-familydoctorsis-revolutionising-healthcare
- Crampton, Peter. 2005. "The Ownership Elephant: Ownership and Community-Governance in Primary Care." *The New Zealand Medical Journal* 118 (1222): U1663.
- Daly, M. 2020. "GPs Call for Change after Diabetes and Other Chronic Conditions Increasingly Seen in Younger Patients | Stuff.Co.Nz." *Stuff*, 2020. https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/health/121833116/gps-call-for-change-after-diabetes-and-

other-chronic-conditions-increasingly-seen-in-younger-patients.

- Darlow, Ben, Sarah Dean, Meredith Perry, Fiona Mathieson, G David Baxter, and Anthony Dowell. 2014. "Acute Low Back Pain Management in General Practice: Uncertainty and Conflicting Certainties." *Family Practice* 31 (6): 723–32. https://doi.org/10.1093/fampra/cmu051.
- Dennis, Sarah, Ian Watts, Ying Pan, and Helena Britt. 2018. "The Likelihood of General Practitioners Referring Patients to Physiotherapists Is Low for Some Health Problems: Secondary Analysis of the Bettering the Evaluation and Care of Health (BEACH) Observational Study." *Journal of Physiotherapy* 64 (3): 178–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2018.05.006.

- Dominick, Clare, Fiona Blyth, and Michael Nicholas. 2011. "Patterns of Chronic Pain in the New Zealand Population" 124 (1337): 14.
- Drew, Peter, and Brad Jones and Douglas Norton. 2010. "Team Effectiveness in Primary Care Networks in Alberta." Healthcare Quarterly. May 31, 2010. https://www.longwoods.com/content/21813/healthcare-quarterly/team-effectiveness-inprimary-care-networks-in-alberta.
- Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Office of Interprofessional Education. n.d. "Canadian Interprofessional Health Collaborative (CIHC) Framework." McGill University. Accessed March 3, 2021. https://www.mcgill.ca/ipeoffice/ipe-curriculum/cihc-framework.
- Furlan, Andrea D., Fatemeh Yazdi, Alexander Tsertsvadze, Anita Gross, Maurits Van Tulder, Lina Santaguida, Joel Gagnier, et al. 2012. "A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Efficacy, Cost-Effectiveness, and Safety of Selected Complementary and Alternative Medicine for Neck and Low-Back Pain." *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine: ECAM* 2012: 953139.
- Frazier, Susan C. 2005. "Health Outcomes and Polypharmacy in Elderly Individuals." *Journal of Gerontological Nursing* 31 (9): 4–9.
- Gauld, Robin, Carol Atmore, Jo Baxter, Peter Crampton, and Tim Stokes. 2019. "The 'Elephants in the Room' for New Zealand's Health System in Its 80th Anniversary Year: General Practice Charges and Ownership Models" 132 (1489): 7.
- General Practice NZ. 2020. "Future General Practice: Workforce Consistency for Equitable Outcomes." 2020. https://gpnz.org.nz/wp-content/uploads/GPNZ-INFOGRAPHIC-UPDATED-July-2020.pdf.
- Grant, Roy, and Danielle Greene. 2012. "The Health Care Home Model: Primary Health Care Meeting Public Health Goals." *American Journal of Public Health* 102 (6): 1096–1103. https://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.2011.300397.
- Health and Disability System Review. 2020. "Health and Disability System Review: Final Report / Pūrongo Whakamutunga." Wellington: HDSR. https://systemreview.health.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/hdsr/health-disability-system-reviewfinal-report.pdf.
- Herman, Patricia M., and Ian D. Coulter. 2015. "Complementary and Alternative Medicine: Professions or Modalities?: Policy Implications for Coverage, Licensure, Scope of Practice, Institutional Privileges, and Research," October. https://www.rand.org/pubs/research reports/RR1258.html.
- HQSC. n.d. "Polypharmacy in People Aged 65 and Over." Health Quality & Safety Commission. Accessed March 3, 2021. https://www.hqsc.govt.nz/our-programmes/health-qualityevaluation/projects/atlas-of-healthcare-variation/polypharmacy/.
- Hutchison, Brian, Jean-Frederic Levesque, Erin Strumpf, and Natalie Coyle. 2011. "Primary Health Care in Canada: Systems in Motion." *The Milbank Quarterly* 89 (2): 256–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0009.2011.00628.x.
- i5 Health. 2015. "Non-Medical Prescribing (NMP) An Economic Evaluation."
- Imison, Candace, Sophie Castle-Clarke, and Robert Watson. 2016. "Reshaping the Workforce to Deliver the Care Patients Need." Nuffield Trust.
- Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. "Global Burden of Disease (GBD 2019)." http://www.healthdata.org/gbd/2019.
- Joret, Maximilian O., Anastasia Dean, Colin Cao, Joanna Stewart, and Venu Bhamidipaty. 2016. "The Financial Burden of Surgical and Endovascular Treatment of Diabetic Foot Wounds." *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 64 (3): 648–55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2016.03.421.
- Joret, Maximilian O., Kareem Osman, Anastasia Dean, Colin Cao, Bert van der Werf, and Venu Bhamidipaty. 2019. "Multidisciplinary Clinics Reduce Treatment Costs and Improve Patient Outcomes in Diabetic Foot Disease." *Journal of Vascular Surgery* 70 (3): 806–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2018.11.032.

- Lamarche, P., Marie-Dominique Beaulieu, R. Pineault, André-Pierre Contandriopoulos, J. Denis, J. Haggerty, D. Larouche, et al. 2003. "Choices for Change: The Path for Restructuring Primary Healthcare Services in Canada." 2003. /paper/Choices-for-Change-%3A-The-Path-for-Restructuring-in-Lamarche-Beaulieu/87122bf4cc6ed36dc256775cbcfdc5252549c81a.
- Latter, Sue, Alison Blenkinsopp, Alesha Smith, Steve Chapman, Michela Tinelli, Karen Gerard, Paul Little, et al. 2010. "Evaluation of Nurse and Pharmacist Independent Prescribing."
- Love, T. and Blick, G. "Primary care funding: A discussion paper". Sapere. 20 November, 2014. https://srgexpert.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/11/GPNZ\_funding\_paper-20\_November.pdf.
- Maeng, Daniel D., Jove Graham, Thomas R. Graf, Joshua N. Liberman, Nicholas B. Dermes, Janet Tomcavage, Duane E. Davis, Frederick J. Bloom, and Glenn D. Steele. 2012. "Reducing Long-Term Cost by Transforming Primary Care: Evidence from Geisinger's Medical Home Model." *The American Journal of Managed Care* 18 (3): 149–55.
- Miller, L, J Williams, R Marvell, and A Tassinari. 2015. "Assistant Practitioners in the NHS in England." Skills for Health. http://www.employment-studies.co.uk/resource/assistant-practitionersnhs-england.
- Ministry of Health. 2016a. "New Zealand Health Strategy 2016." https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/new-zealand-health-strategy-2016.
- ———. 2016b. "Self-Management Support for People with Long Term Conditions." https://www.health.govt.nz/system/files/documents/publications/self-managementsupport-people-with-long-term-conditions-feb16\_0.docx.
- ———. 2018. "Older People's Health Data and Stats." Ministry of Health NZ. 2018. https://www.health.govt.nz/nz-health-statistics/health-statistics-and-data-sets/olderpeoples-health-data-and-stats.
- ———. 2020a. "Ambulatory Sensitive (Avoidable) Hospital Admissions | Nationwide Service Framework Library." 2020. https://nsfl.health.govt.nz/accountability/performance-andmonitoring/data-quarterly-reports-and-reporting/ambulatory-sensitive.
- ———. 2020b. Longer, Healthier Lives: New Zealand's Health 1990-2017: A Report on the Health Loss Estimates of the 2017 Global Burden of Disease Study. Wellington: Ministry of Health. https://www.health.govt.nz/publication/longer-healthier-lives-new-zealands-health-1990-2017.
- ———. n.d. "Equity." Ministry of Health NZ. Accessed March 3, 2021. https://www.health.govt.nz/our-work/populations/maori-health/he-korowai-oranga/keythreads/equity.
- Moffatt, Fiona, Rob Goodwin, and Paul Hendrick. 2018. "Physiotherapy-as-First-Point-of-Contact-Service for Patients with Musculoskeletal Complaints: Understanding the Challenges of Implementation." *Primary Health Care Research & Development* 19 (2): 121–30. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1463423617000615.

National Health Committee. 2015. "Low Back Pain: A Pathway to Prioritisation." Low Back Pain, 98.

- National Health Performance Authority. 2015. "Healthy Communities: Frequent GP Attenders and Their Use of Health Services in 2012–13."
- NHS England. 2014. "Five Year Forward View." https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/10/5yfv-web.pdf.
- Nieuwlaat, Robby, Nancy Wilczynski, Tamara Navarro, Nicholas Hobson, Rebecca Jeffery, Arun Keepanasseril, Thomas Agoritsas, et al. 2014. "Interventions for Enhancing Medication Adherence." *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, no. 11. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD000011.pub4.
- Patel, Mitesh S., Martin J. Arron, Thomas A. Sinsky, Eric H. Green, David W. Baker, Judith L. Bowen, and Susan Day. 2013. "Estimating the Staffing Infrastructure for a Patient-Centered Medical Home." *The American Journal of Managed Care* 19 (6): 509–16.

Public Health England. 2017. "Return on Investment of Interventions for the Prevention and Treatment of Musculoskeletal Conditions. Final Report." https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_

data/file/670211/musculoskeletal\_conditions\_return\_on\_investment\_final\_report.pdf.

- Pullon, Sue, Eileen McKinlay, and Kevin Dew. 2009. "Primary Health Care in New Zealand: The Impact of Organisational Factors on Teamwork." *British Journal of General Practice* 59 (560): 191–97. https://doi.org/10.3399/bjgp09X395003.
- PriceWaterhouseCoopers. 2001. TYPE 2 Diabetes: Managing for Better Health Outcomes : Diabetes New Zealand Inc. Wellington: PriceWaterhouseCoopers.
- PriceWaterhouseCoopers. 2008. Update of *TYPE 2 Diabetes: Managing for Better Health Outcomes : Diabetes New Zealand Inc.* Wellington: PriceWaterhouseCoopers.
- PriceWaterhouseCoopers. 2021. The Economic and Social Cost of Type 2 Diabetes. Wellington: PriceWaterhouseCoopers.
- Reid, Robert J., Katie Coleman, Eric A. Johnson, Paul A. Fishman, Clarissa Hsu, Michael P. Soman, Claire E. Trescott, Michael Erikson, and Eric B. Larson. 2010. "The Group Health Medical Home at Year Two: Cost Savings, Higher Patient Satisfaction, and Less Burnout for Providers." *Health Affairs (Project Hope)* 29 (5): 835–43. https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2010.0158.
- Reynolds, Rebecca, Sarah Dennis, Iqbal Hasan, Jan Slewa, Winnie Chen, David Tian, Sangeetha Bobba, and Nicholas Zwar. 2018. "A Systematic Review of Chronic Disease Management Interventions in Primary Care." *BMC Family Practice* 19 (January). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12875-017-0692-3.
- RNZCGP. 2016. "Workforce Survey 2016." 2016. https://www.rnzcgp.org.nz/gpdocs/Newwebsite/Publications/gp-workforce/WorkforceSurvey2016WorkWellbeing-FINAL-WEB.pdf.
- RNZCGP. 2019. "Workforce Survey 2018" 2018. https://rnzcgp.org.nz/gpdocs/Newwebsite/Publications/GP-Workforce/WorkforceSurvey2018Report1-revised-July-20194web.pdf.
- Schwenk, Thomas L. 2019. "Alternatives to Opioids for Pain Management." *NEJM Journal Watch* 2019 (December). https://doi.org/10.1056/nejm-jw.NA50481.
- SCIE. 2018. "Delivering Integrated Care: The Role of the Multidisciplinary Team." SCIE Highlights No 4. Social Care Institute for Excellence. https://www.scie.org.uk/integrated-care/workforce/rolemultidisciplinary-team.
- Stanley, James, Elinor Millar, Kelly Semper, Cheryl Davies, Anthony Dowell, Dee Mangin, Ross Lawrenson, and Diana Sarfati. 2018. "The Impact of Multimorbidity on People's Lives: A Cross-Sectional Survey." *The New Zealand Medical Journal* 131 (1477): 78–90.
- Supper, I., O. Catala, M. Lustman, C. Chemla, Y. Bourgueil, and L. Letrilliart. 2015. "Interprofessional Collaboration in Primary Health Care: A Review of Facilitators and Barriers Perceived by Involved Actors." *Journal of Public Health* 37 (4): 716–27. https://doi.org/10.1093/pubmed/fdu102.

The College of Podiatry. n.d. "Podiatry's Role in Primary Care."

- The Osteopathic Foundation. 2020. "Introducing Osteopaths to Primary Care: The Role of the First Contact Practitioner. A Pilot Evaluation." https://www.iosteopathy.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/11/FCP-Evaluation-FINAL.pdf.
- Turner-Benny, P, C McCann, and G Benny. 2014. "Mobilising the Allied Forces." Allied Health Aotearoa New Zealand and Health Workforce New Zealand.
- Wepa, Dianne, Paul Spoonley, Irihapeti Ramsden, Liz Banks, Maureen Kelly, Elaine Papps, Rachael Vernon, et al. 2018. "Cultural Safety in Aotearoa New Zealand," June. https://doi.org/10.1017/cbo9781316151136.
- Williams, L. 2019. "Untreated Severe-to-Profound Hearing Loss and the Cochlear Implant Situation: hearHow Policy and Practice Are Disabling New Zealand Society." NZMJ: 132 (1505).

- Wilson, Kieren, Lyn Coulon, Wendy Swann, and Rm Ccn Ma. 2005. "Nurse Practitioners' Experiences of Working Collaboratively with General Practitioners and Allied Health Professionals in New South Wales, Australia." *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing* 23 (2): 6.
- Workforce Taskforce. 2008. Working Together for Better Primay Health Care: Overcoming Barriers to Workforce Change and Innovation : Report to the Minister of Health from the Wokforce Taskforce. Wellington: Ministry of Health.
- World Health Organization. 2019. "Patient Safety." 2019. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/patient-safety.
- Wranik, W. Dominika, Susan M. Haydt, Alan Katz, Adrian R. Levy, Maryna Korchagina, Jeanette M. Edwards, and Ian Bower. 2017. "Funding and Remuneration of Interdisciplinary Primary Care Teams in Canada: A Conceptual Framework and Application." *BMC Health Services Research* 17 (1): 351. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-017-2290-4.
- Wrigley, Phil. 2018. "Multi-Disciplinary Working Three Years On." Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE). 2018. https://www.scie.org.uk/news/opinions/mdt-three-years-on.
- Yu, Stephanie W. Y., Caterina Hill, Mariesa L. Ricks, Jennifer Bennet, and Nancy E. Oriol. 2017. "The Scope and Impact of Mobile Health Clinics in the United States: A Literature Review." International Journal for Equity in Health 16 (October). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-017-0671-2.

